
WOODBURY COUNTY  
ZONING COMMISSION 

Monday, November 27, 2023 at 5:00 PM 
The Zoning Commission will hold a public meeting on Monday, November 27, 2023 at 5:00 PM in the Board 
of Supervisors’ meeting room in the Basement of the Woodbury County Courthouse, 620 Douglas Street, 
Sioux City, IA.  Please use the 7th St. entrance.  Public access to the conversation of the meeting will also be 
made available during the meeting by telephone. Persons wanting to participate in the public meeting and 
public hearings on the agenda may attend in person or call: (712) 454-1133 and enter the Conference ID: 638 
086 537#  during the meeting to listen or comment.  It is recommended to attend in person as there is the 
possibility for technical difficulties with phone and computer systems. 

AGENDA

1 CALL TO ORDER

2 ROLL CALL

3 PUBLIC COMMENT ON MATTERS NOT ON THE AGENDA

4 APPROVAL OF MINUTES: 10/23/23

5 ITEM(S) OF BUSINESS

» PUBLIC HEARING: SOLAR ENERGY - UTILITY-SCALE SOLAR SYSTEMS – CONSIDERATION OF SOLAR 
ORDINANCES FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) TO THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS - SUMMARY OF PROPOSED 
UTILITY-SCALE SOLAR ENERGY SYSTEMS ZONING ORDINANCE AMENDMENT: A proposal to amend the Woodbury County Zoning 
Ordinance to include provisions for the permitting of utility-scale solar energy systems in the unincorporated areas of Woodbury County in 
the General Industrial (GI), Limited Industrial (LI), and Agricultural Preservation (AP) Zoning Districts.  In addition, the concept of a utility-
scale energy systems overlay district will be considered.  The proposed regulations provide uniform and comprehensive standards for the 
installation and use of Utility-Scale Solar Energy Systems (US-SES) including and not limited to agrisolar and community solar systems.  
US-SES may include, solar panels, solar support structure, inverter/transformers, energy storage technologies, wiring, and other equipment 
necessary for the generation, storage and delivery of electricity.  The intent of these regulations is to protect the public health, safety, and 
community welfare while allowing development of utility-scale solar energy resources for utility, commercial, and industrial purposes. 

6 PUBLIC COMMENT ON MATTERS NOT ON THE AGENDA

7 COMMISSIONER COMMENT OR INQUIRY

8 STAFF UPDATE

9 ADJOURN

1



1 

Minutes - Woodbury County Zoning Commission Meeting – October 23, 2023 

The Zoning Commission (ZC) meeting convened on Monday, 23rd of September, at 5:00 PM in the Board of Supervisors’ 
meeting room in the Basement of the Woodbury County Courthouse, 620 Douglas Street, Sioux City, IA.  The meeting was also 
made available via teleconference.   

ZC Members Present: Chris Zellmer Zant, Corey Meister, Jeff O’Tool, Barb Parker 
County Staff Present:  Dan Priestley, Dawn Norton 
Public Present: Leo Jochum, Bev Jochum, Dan Bittinger, Ann Johnston, Daniel Segura, 

Elizabeth Widman, Emily Segura, Bob Fritzmeier, Roger & Gwen Burnett, 
Elizabeth Cindy Haase, Russell Petersen, Hope Lynam 

 Telephone: Chad Swanger 

For specific content of this meeting, refer to the recorded video on the Woodbury County Zoning Commission YouTube channel: 
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=qNpK3atf1k0 

Call to Order 
Chair Chris Zant formally called the meeting to order at 5:08 PM. Tom Bride was absent. 

Public Comment on Matters Not on the Agenda 
None 

Approval of Previous Meeting Minutes – September 25, 2023 and October 16, 2023  
O’Tool motioned. Second: Meister.  Motion carried: 4-0. 

Public Hearing: Back Acre Estates, Second Filing, Minor Subdivision Proposal on Parcel #884702200009 
Priestley read the preliminary report and staff recommendation into the record.  Chad Swanger, Trustee Terry V. Swanger Trust 
has filed for a one (1) lot minor subdivision on the property identified as Parcel #884702200009.  This subdivision is being 
completed to separate the house location from the abutting ground.  This proposal has been properly noticed in the Sioux City 
Journal legals section on October 10, 2023.  The neighbors within 1000 FT have been duly notified via an October 6, 2023 letter 
about the October 23, 2023 Zoning Commission public hearing.  Appropriate stakeholders including government agencies, 
utilities, and organizations have been notified and have been requested to comment.  The Woodbury County Engineer found the 
proposal in compliance with Iowa Code closure requirements and found that the lot(s) have adequate access.  This property is 
located in the Agricultural Preservation (AP) Zoning District and is NOT located in the Special Flood Hazard Area (SFHA).  The 
City of Sioux City have accepted and approved the file plat with the approval of Sioux City council resolution No. 2023-0962.  
Staff recommends that a pavement agreement be signed with Woodbury County as a condition of approval of this final plat.  
Based on the information received and requirements set forth in the Zoning and Subdivision Ordinance, the proposal meets the 
appropriate criteria for approval.  Owner has signed a pavement agreement which will be recorded with the final plat.  O’Tool 
motioned to close public hearing.  Second: Meister. Motion carried: 4-0.  Motion to recommend acceptance and approval to 
Board of Supervisors by Meister.  Second: Parker.  Carried: 4-0.   Item will be presented to the Board of Supervisors on October 
31, 2023. 

Public Hearing: Grays First Addition, Minor Subdivision Proposal on Parcel #884209200009 
Priestley read the preliminary report and staff recommendation into the record.  Marlis A. Gray, has filed for a one (1) lot minor 
subdivision on the property identified as Parcel #884209200009.  This subdivision is being completed to separate the house 
location from the abutting ground.  This proposal has been properly noticed in the Sioux City Journal legals section on October 
10, 2023.  The neighbors within 1000 FT have been duly notified via a October 6, 2023 letter about the October 23, 2023 Zoning 
Commission public hearing.  Appropriate stakeholders including government agencies, utilities, and organizations have been 
notified and have been requested to comment  The Woodbury County Engineer found the proposal in compliance with Iowa 
Code closure requirements and found that the lot(s) have adequate access.  However, there is a rounding error on the plat that 
must be corrected prior to recording.  Priestley confirmed that the rounding error has been corrected and shared with the County 
Engineer who concurred.  This property is located in the Agricultural Preservation (AP) Zoning District and is NOT located in the 
special Flood Hazard Area (SFHA).  Exterritorial review is not required by a city as the property is further than two (2) miles from 
the closet incorporated jurisdiction.  Based on the information received and the requirements set forth in the Zoning and 
Subdivision Ordinance, the proposal meets the appropriate criteria for approval.  Motion to close public hearing: Meister.  
Second: O’Tool.  Carried: 4-0.  Parker inquired about a pavement agreement.  Priestley indicated that pavement agreements 
are required when referenced/requested by the County Engineer.  Zant asked about the well and septic location and Priestley 
indicated that the well and septic were on the lot.  Motion to recommend acceptance and approval to the Board of Supervisors 
by Meister.  Second: Parker. Carried: 4-0. 

Public Hearing:  Solar Energy – Utility-Scale Solar Systems – Consideration of Solar Ordinances for 
Recommendations(s) to the Board of Supervisors
Priestley summarized the purpose of the public hearing.  The Woodbury County Zoning Commission has been directed by the 
Board of Supervisors on August 8, 2023 to establish/examine a new ordinance as it relates to utility-scale solar systems.  The 
purpose of the public hearing is to receive comments and put together a proposal as a possible ordinance or amendments for 

2



2

solar energy systems not limited to utility-scale systems, agrisolar or agrivoltaics, and community solar systems, together with 
the Commission addressing the permitting process for such systems in industrial and/or agricultural areas.  The Zoning 
Commission held their first public hearing at the Moville Area Community Center on September 11, 2023.  The second was held 
in the basement of the Woodbury County Courthouse on September 25, 2023.  Both public hearings included constituents who 
offered comments both in support and opposition to the expansion of utility-scall solar in the Agricultural Preservation (AP) 
Zoning District.  Audio of meetings may be accessed for review by visiting the Woodbury County Zoning Commission 
“Committee” page on the Woodbury County website at: www.woodburycountyiowa.gov.  The Zoning Commission conducted a 
work session on October 16, 2023 to discuss the considerations for an ordinance.  The audio for this meeting may be obtained 
by using the following link: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=1JAj6Xh3cSU or https://tinyourl.com/Zoning101623     

Emily Segura (Sioux City) addressed the ZC about the impact of utility-scale solar on area farmland.  She discussed the 
importance of taking care of the land and questioned the disposal and the economics of sending the panels to the dump.  
Segura recommended for the ZC to read the article “The Dark Side of Solar Power” by Atalay Atasu, Serasu Duran, and Luk N. 
Van Wassenhove from the Harvard Business Review which discusses a number of topics including the high cost of solar trash 
and disposal.  She offered concerns about the emittance of toxic waste from the decommissioned panels.   

Ann Johnston (Salix) addressed the ZC with concerns about slave labor groups in foreign counties such as the Uyghurs in 
China who are part of the supply chains that make up 95% of the solar panels worldwide.  She referenced that much emphasis 
has been placed on Scott and Linn Counties but not enough on the western counties in Iowa.  Johnston indicated that Sioux 
County is under a moratorium from solar renewables.   

Elizabeth Widman (Sergeant Bluff) addressed the ZC indicating that two of the Board of Supervisors voted against putting solar 
on ag protected land.  She asserted this is not a mandate from the board to ensure solar encroaches on ag land.  Putting solar 
on ag land fundamentally changes the ag protected areas and should only be put in industrial zones.  MidAmerican’s largest 
Iowa project is 800 acres but they stated they do not have immediate plans to locate solar in Woodbury County.  Widman 
indicated that the farming between solar panels is experimental and not done in America.  MidAmerica stated that cattle grazing 
underneath solar panels would not work because they would rub against the panels and knock them down.  Grass planted 
underneath would not help wildlife because fences need to be around these areas to protect the public.  Widman questioned 
Daniel Priestley’s comment at the previous work session that if applicants were to apply to the county to establish utility-solar 
they would have to be forthright in the application.  However, at the public meetings it has not been mentioned that the pro-solar 
speakers have already signed contracts with an outside company, and we should be told who the company is.  If you add up the 
acres in the plat book owned by these individuals in my area, it comes out to 2,600 acres or 4 square miles in comparison to the 
City of Sergeant Bluff which is only 2.11 square miles.  All the remaining cities in Woodbury are less than one square mile.  Four 
square miles is about the size of 1,936 football fields.  Widman indicated that contracts are for 30 years.  If these are the same, 
she will be 97 years old before the possibility of decommissioning them back to solar and her family will grow up to not see 
agriculture land.  Widman asserted that utility-solar is not agriculture.  Widman referenced a 3,000 acre solar project near Rock 
Branch that will be near her ground.  She stated that agricultural preservation is meant to preserve agriculture.  Widman 
asserted these utility-scale solar facilities belong on industrial land. 

Elizabeth Cindy Haase (Salix) addressed the ZC offering concerns about the radiation caused by solar panels.  She indicated 
that the electronic magnetic sensitivity causing, headaches, dizziness, nausea, cancer risk has been reported by people who 
reside close to solar systems. 

Motion to close public hearing: Parker. Second: O’Tool. Carried: 4-0.   

Zant commented there have been great comments from both sides, wants verification on some facts, Commission will work on 
collecting and reviewing more information. O’Tool appreciates feedback, good to hear all sides.    

No Public Comment on Matters Not on the Agenda 

Commissioner Comment of Inquiry 
Due to harvest, O’Tool suggested waiting until regular November 27th meeting instead of scheduling a work session, all present 
commissioners agreed. 

Staff Update 
Priestley noted subdivisions recommended tonight will be presented to the Board of Supervisors on Oct 31, 2023.  Woodbury 
County Community and Economic Development will be hosting the COZO conference in May of 2024.    

Adjourn 
Motion to adjourn: Meister.  Second: O’Tool.  Carried:  4-0. 

3



STAFF PRELIMINARY REPORT ON CONSIDERATIONS FOR THE PERMITTING OF  
UTILITY-SCALE SOLAR ENERGY SYSTEMS  

IN UNINCORPORATED WOODBURY COUNTY, IOWA 

November 21, 2023 

STAFF 
PLANNING & ZONING 

Woodbury County Community & Economic Development 

4



2 

CONTENTS 

Meeting History of the Woodbury County Zoning Commission……………………………………….3 

Summary of the Debate…………………………………………………………………………………...4 

Introduction…………………………………………………………………………………………….….5 

Public Hearing #1 (Moville) – September 11, 2023………………………………………………………6 

Public Hearing #2 (Woodbury County Courthouse) – September 25, 2023……………………….….13 

Public Hearing #3 (Woodbury County Courthouse) – October 23, 2023……………………...………18 

Work Session (Woodbury County Courthouse ) – October 16, 2023………………………………….20 

Staff Analysis………………………………………………………………………………………………24 

Summary of Proposals…………………………………………………………………………………….27 
Draft Utility-Solar CUP 
Draft Utility-Solar Overlay District 
Development Plan Process 

Rough Drafts……………………………………………………………………………………………….29 
Utility-Scale Solar Energy Systems……………………………………………………………….30 
Utility-Scale Solar Energy Systems Overlay District……………………………………………50 

Comprehensive Plan Adoption Process and Current Outlook………………………………………….69 

Summary and Conclusion…………………………………………………………………………………71 

References…………………………………………………………………………………………………..72 

Appendix……………………………………………………………………………………………………73 
Direction from the Board of Supervisors – August 8, 2023………………………….……….….73 
Direction from the Board of Supervisors – September 26, 2023…………………………….….75 
Concept 1 – Summary (Utility-Scale Solar CUP for GI)………………………………………...77 
Concept 2 – Summary (Utility-Scale Solar Overlay District)…………………………………...78 
Concept 3 – Summary (Comprehensive Plan)………………………………………….………...79 
Zoning Commission Minutes…………………………………………………………….………...80 

September 11, 2023 (Public Hearing)…………………………………………….…….….80 
September 25, 2023 (Public Hearing)……………………………………………..……….83 
October 16, 2023 (Work Session)………………………………………………..………....92 
October 23, 2023 (Public Hearing) – Draft………………………………………..……....96 

5



3 

MEETING HISTORY OF THE WOODBURY COUNTY ZONING COMMISSION 

The following table summarizes the Zoning Commission’s interactions as they work to form a recommendation to 
the Board of Supervisors for the permitting of utility-scale solar energy systems in the unincorporated areas of 
Woodbury County.  The table includes online hyperlinks (links) to the meeting agendas with backup information 
including public comments up to that point.  Additionally, links to the approved meeting minutes as well as audio 
is provided.  The subsequent pages also include comments made by the public at the hearings.  The information 
provided is not intended to be a full or perfect transcript but to provide context of the debate.  Links are also 
provided to the audio comments from each member of the public who chose to speak. 

Date Meeting 
Type / Action 

Meeting Information Meeting 
Attendance 

Public Input 

September 
11, 2023 

Public 
Hearing / 
Zoning 
Commission 
(Moville) 

Agenda Packet:
https://www.woodburycountyiowa.gov/files/committees/meetings/2023-09-
11_packet_zoning_commission_34199.pdf

Comments:  
Written comments included within agenda packet. 

Minutes:
https://www.woodburycountyiowa.gov/files/committees/meetings/2023-09-
11_minutes_zoning_commission_2192.pdf

Audio: 
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=XZQa-5kNgcQ

31+ 14 
 Greg Jochum 
 Brad Jochum 
 Tom Jochum 
 Eric Nelson 
 Ron Wood 
 Elizabeth Widman 
 Bob Fritzmeyer 
 Leo Jochum 
 Kim Alexander 
 Will Dougherty 
 Ann Johnston 
 Wally Kuntz 
 Supervisor Taylor 
 Will Dougherty 

September 
25, 2023 

Public 
Hearing / 
Zoning 
Commission 

Agenda Packet:
https://www.woodburycountyiowa.gov/files/committees/meetings/2023-09-
25_packet_zoning_commission_66298.pdf

Comments:  
Written comments included within agenda packet. 

Minutes:
https://www.woodburycountyiowa.gov/files/committees/meetings/2023-09-
25_minutes_zoning_commission_9753.pdf

Audio:
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=LJ-k9MCD8_8

25+ 12 
 Matt Countryman 
 Deb Harpenau 
 Wally Wagner 
 Jerrod Ulery 
 Kevin Alons 
 Rebecca Moerer 
 Jesus Cendejas 
 Elizabeth Widman 
 Leo Jochum 
 Ann Johnston 
 Will Dougherty 
 Daniel Segura 

October 16, 
2023 

Work Session 
/ Zoning 
Commission 

Agenda Packet:
https://www.woodburycountyiowa.gov/files/committees/meetings/2023-10-
16_agenda_zoning_commission_2395.pdf

Comments:  
Written comments included within agenda packet. 

Minutes:
https://www.woodburycountyiowa.gov/files/committees/meetings/2023-10-
16_minutes_zoning_commission_3421.pdf

Audio:
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=lJAj6Xh3cSU

15+ 3 
 Will Dougherty 
 Leo Jochum 
 Doyle Turner 

October 23, 
2023 

Public 
Hearing / 
Zoning 
Commission 

Agenda Packet:
https://www.woodburycountyiowa.gov/files/committees/meetings/2023-10-
23_packet_zoning_commission_6882.pdf

Comments:  
Written comments included within agenda packet. 

Minutes:
See Draft Minutes in this month’s packet. 

Audio:
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=qNpK3atf1k0&t=3s

14+ 4 
 Elizabeth Segura 
 Ann Johnston 
 Elizabeth Widman 
 Elizabeth Cindy Haase 

6



4 

SUMMARY OF THE DEBATE 

The question in this report is whether utility-scale solar energy systems are appropriate or not in the Agricultural 
Preservation (AP) Zoning District.  To determine compatibility with AP, the Zoning Commission has been tasked 
to consider the following by the Board of Supervisors on August 8, 2023: 

 A conditional use permit for AP “C” with Planning and Zoning and Board of Adjustment to be able to site-
specifically take into consideration the concerns of neighbors, land/sol, and other factors when approving 
permit. 

 A slope of no more than 5% in order to preserve the land and to account for soil erosion, compaction, and 
future land stewardship. 

 A maximum height of no more than 20’ for panel structures. 

 Of all AP, no more than 49% can be in such a project.  In short, 51% must be for agricultural production or 
no longer considered “AP.” 

 Utility solar can be no more than 2% of all AP “agricultural preservation,” preserving 98% of AP.  This 
equates to approximately 8,540 acres of the 427,000 acres of ag land, ag land constituting 75% of the 
570,000 total acres in Woodbury County. 

 Current notification for utility-scale solar shall be 1 mile for public comment instead of 500 feet. 

 A requirement (or at least strong consideration) that the utility-scale solar project either be on a landowner’s 
property or that the owner of the land be a resident of Woodbury County. 

Subsequently, the Supervisors revised their direction to include the following on September 26, 2023: 

 A conditional use permit for AP "C" with Planning and Zoning and the Board of Adjustment to be able to 
site-specifically take into consideration the concerns of neighbors, land/soil, and other factors when 
approving permit.  

 A slope of no more than 5% ONLY for fixed arrays (most technology is now movable arrays) in order to 
preserve the land and to account for soil erosion, compaction, and future land stewardship.  

 No more than 1% of industrial land conversion every 4 years for reclassification, roughly 5,700 acres.  

 Current notification for utility-scale solar shall be 1 mile for public comment instead of 500 feet.  

 A decommissioning plan from solar companies reviewed by P&Z/BOA subject to approval by the 
Woodbury County Board of Supervisors.

Since receipt of direction from the Board of Supervisors, the Commission has conducted three public hearings and 
one work session to work toward a recommendation.  The Commission has been mindful of the harvest season and 
plans to continue to collect information as potential ordinance options are shaped to address whether AP land is 
appropriate or not for utility-scale solar systems.   

7



5 

INTRODUCTION 

As of November 20, 2023, three public hearings and one work session (October 16, 2023) have been held to learn 
whether utility-scale solar energy systems are appropriate or not in the Agricultural Preservation (AP) Zoning 
District.   

The first public hearing was conducted at the Moville Area Community Center on September 11, 2023.  There 
were over 31 members of the public present and 14 who offered comments.  Three categories emerged from the 
hearing including those who were favorable, those who were opposed or not supportive, and those who were 
indifferent or undecided about the expansion of solar into ag land.  There appears to be about seven (7) who spoke 
favorably, four (4) who were opposed or not supportive, and one who indicated to be undecided but interested in 
assessment. 

A second public hearing was conducted in the basement of the Woodbury County Courthouse on September 25, 
2023.  There were over 25 members of the public present and 12 who offered comments.  Again, the same 
categories emerged as those who are favorable in comparison to those who oppose or not supportive of the 
expansion of solar-utility scale energy systems on ag land.  There were six (6) who spoke favorably while six (6) 
spoke in opposition.   

The third public hearing was conducted in the basement of the Woodbury County Courthouse on October 23, 2023.  
There were over 14 members of the public present and four (4) who offered public comments.  There were four (4) 
four who spoke in opposition.   

The themes gleaned from the meetings cover a host of issues.  Those who spoke in favor of the expansion of 
utility-scale solar discussed co-existence within the neighborhoods.  Comments included techniques that could be 
used to mitigate any potential adverse impacts.  It was suggested to develop an ordinance that establishes specific 
requirements and agreements so that the expectations would be clear.  Those in favor offered concerns about the 
Corn Suitable Rating 2 (CSR) as a requirement due to the rainfall factor.  Additionally, concerns were made about 
out of county ownership, solar as the future as part of climate change initiatives, and the potential phasing out of 
the area coal power plants.  Furthermore, comments were made claiming that solar will positively benefit the soils, 
wildlife, add value to the county, and are important for the economic future.   

Those who spoke in opposition referenced the purpose of preserving agricultural land in the Agricultural 
Preservation (AP) Zoning District.  Comments included questions/statements about whether solar is an agricultural 
activity?  It was asserted that solar is an industrial activity and should be placed on industrial or commercial land.  
Concerns were made about the solar industry being subsidized and the timeframe to which the panels would no 
longer function, thus generating concerns of disposal as well as questioning recyclability.  Weather conditions were 
referenced as a detriment for the panels.  Those opposed discussed the stewardship of land and questioned the 
short-term vs. long terms benefits and questioned how a conditional use or overlay would actually work.  Concerns 
were also brought forth about the manufacturing of solar panels in foreign countries including alleged adverse 
working conditions for the workers.  This debate has also included references to Constitutional rights and the use 
of the zoning districts to classify land.   

It is important to point out that the Woodbury County Zoning Ordinance presently has provisions for conditional 
use permit applications for utility-scale solar energy systems in the General Industrial (GI) Zoning District.  This 
debate is not about establishing solar provisions for the first time, it is about whether or not the Agricultural 
Preservation (AP) Zoning District is an appropriate zone or not for utility-scale solar.  As this is an intricate 
discussion about the future landscape of Woodbury County with numerous variables for consideration, the 
comments from the public have been included in the subsequent pages of the report organized by each hearing 
date.   

8



6 

PUBLIC HEARING #1 (MOVILLE) – SEPTEMBER 11, 2023 

On September 11, 2023, the Commission conducted the first public hearing at the Moville Area Community 
Center.  Fourteen members of the public addressed the Commission on a range of issues in support and opposition 
to utility-scale solar on AG land.  Below includes links to the audio and summaries and/or direct quote adaptions of 
the information shared by the public.  The following is not intended to be a perfect transcript but is offered to 
provide context of the debate.  The audio can be accessed on YouTube using the following direct link: 
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=XZQa-5kNgcQ

The list of Zoning Commission meetings inclusive of the agendas, packets with backup materials, minutes, and 
videos (Audio) may be accessed at: https://www.woodburycountyiowa.gov/committees/zoning_commission/

Greg Jochum (Salix) (47:43 to 51:28) - https://youtu.be/XZQa-5kNgcQ?feature=shared&t=2863

- Using CSR2 as a scenario, in 2013, the State of Iowa went from Iowa State University, went from CSR1 
which is Corn Suitability Rating, went from one to a two.  I have a few farms that the corn suitability rating 
was a 47 which means on a scale that means 1 is bad 100 is good.  So, it’s below average.  After they 
changed to CSR2, miraculously my farm went to an 81 CSR2, it doubled the value pretty much.  Same 
ground. 

- Looking at possibly, if you would consider the CSR1 values rather than the CSR2 values because in Iowa 
State University’s information, the major difference between the CSR1 and the CSR2 is the CSR1 included 
a rainfall correction factor whereas the CSR2 does not and it will without a climate adjustment, the CSR2 
values will have an upward bias in counties located in northwest Iowa that comes right from Iowa State’s 
information.   

- So I have you know family-owned land that I have maps of and they all went from mid 40s upper 40s from 
up to 65 to 82, 83 just from the CSR1 to CSR2 and if looking at future development of land you’re looking 
at excluding anything over 65 and a half or 75 and a half. 

- The Board of Supervisors just approved a new interchange south of Sergeant Bluff and that farm that they 
are going to be putting it on is a 74 an half CSR2.   

- The other one I want to bring up also is the 20 foot height for agrivoltaics or ag solar.  If looking at running 
equipment underneath the solar panels the one that MidAmerican does it tilts flat and you know follows the 
sun so if you’re limited it to 20 foot at the height of it so the panels are 10 foot that means the tilt is only at 
10 foot height you know and if we were to farm underneath it whereas grass or hay or pasture or having 
cows pasture underneath there they want that a little bit higher than just you know the 20 feet so those are 
some information for you to know.  Zellmer Zant:  Do you know what that height would be?  Jochum: I 
don’t know what that height would be all depends I mean if they’re going to they’ve take about like Iowa 
State has a farm right now that they got money for if they’re putting 30 or 40 acres in right but it all 
depends on if they’re if you growing vegetables you know if its manual labor to pick the vegetables it 
doesn’t have to be that high but you know if they’re using mechanical stuff it’ll have to be higher there’s a 
lot of studies out in Pennsylvania, New York.   

Brad Jochum (Plymouth County) (51:44 to 53:22) - https://youtu.be/XZQa-5kNgcQ?feature=shared&t=3104

- Live in LeMars, Iowa.  I grew up in Woodbury County though I moved to Plymouth County to be close to 
my clients.  I own land in Woodbury County with my brothers and sister uh and my brother Greg that for 
me um if I wanted to have a solar facility owning it with them uh I think I should be able to um we have an 
undivided interest in the land so no one individual is designated as the owner of that uh would complicate 
things as far as ownership goes if I wanted to be involved with this uh solar utility solar project it would not 
be fair to them also a solar project on their land.  I’m also an owner in that farm.  Uh taking a step further if 
my parents had a revocable trust set up and I would become an owner of the property after their death 
which is already in the solar project would I have to sell my ownership because I’m not allowed to be an 

9



7 

absentee owner of that uh this is a complicated issue?  I have faith in the zoning board to sort this out uh 
utility solar would be a positive alternative for Woodbury County for electrical generation.   

Tom Jochum (53:42 to 55:59) (Sergeant Bluff) - https://youtu.be/XZQa-5kNgcQ?feature=shared&t=3222

- I support solar.  Its clean energy.  Renewable energy has been a big factor for electric grades in Iowa.  The 
average cost is lower than most of the country.  It has become more reliable and efficient the last few years.  
Port Neal North commissioned in 1974 was a coal fire plant retired in 2016.  That time they had a lot of 
employees and after the shutdown they lost many of their employees.  They lost several contractors that 
continuously worked on that site for Neal South as a coal fire plant was commissioned in 79 and is 
currently still operating.  As the movement towards clean energy in recent Iowa Supreme Court ruling there 
is growing pressure on MidAmerican Energy to close or convert Port Neal South.  MidAmerican is a leader 
in renewable energy.  Now is the time for solar to step in and fill that gap.  Existing equipment transmission 
lines that are already in place solar energy will be able to save some of those high paying jobs and bring in 
electricity generation additionally solar energy will be a great source of income for Woodbury County.  
Construction process creates jobs.  More importantly the land used for solar energy will pay a generating 
tax based on kilowatt hours.  According to the county Board of Supervisors’ calculations tax generated by 
solar will be 5.3x higher than current agricultural land tax.  A tax revenue will be by the county will be 
increased 5.3x as needed all this additional revenue will be available for the county to use where needed.  I 
believe Woodbury County should take this opportunity. 

Eric Nelson (Moville) (56:24 to 57:44) - https://youtu.be/XZQa-5kNgcQ?feature=shared&t=3384

- I would like to encourage you folks to um earnestly seek out all the information you can from all sides.  I 
found it ironic that we started off this meeting with a discussion about wanting to just build one home on 
um AP and it’s not easy just to do that and yet we’re talking about building uh commercial solar and this 
solar is not agricultural.  It’s commercial.  I mean any of the electricity that can be generated on what’s 
called agricultural can be converted into electricity used anywhere um, so I think we need you to be really 
careful on converting AG land.  If you want to have um solar, I think it needs to be on commercial property 
because that’s really a commercial entity um and I think that your very first activity today um and how 
steep of a hill it is to climb to just build a house on AP ground um I think that kind of answers the whole 
question for me hopefully for you too. 

Ron Wood (Salix) (57:57 to 59:24) - https://youtu.be/XZQa-5kNgcQ?feature=shared&t=3477

- I support solar in the fact that I worry about the Siouxland area trying to grow in comparison to Omaha and 
Sioux Falls on a regular basis and can’t seem to get the most.  (In audible).  I was just talking about 
comparing ourselves to Omaha and Sioux Falls and the need for power generation and I kind of feel like if 
uh the two coal fired plants that are in existence now no longer produce energy where does it come from 
and how do we get the growth that we want in the Siouxland area to stimulate our economy we have to 
bring in more power from other areas we just more relying on other areas to sustain what we’re trying to 
accomplish here in addition to that I think a lot of this new commercial a little research of commercial solar 
is very low to the ground and companies are very eager to appease neighbors with barriers, tress vs. 
whatever so I just encourage you to consider those facts. 

Elizabeth Widman (Sergeant Bluff) (59:59 to 1:04:46) - https://youtu.be/XZQa-5kNgcQ?feature=shared&t=3599

- Resides in rural Sergeant Bluff.  Landowner.   
- Children are fifth generation Woodbury County farmers. 
- Never knew father-in-law who passed of Lou Gehrig disease before met husband. 
- Husband always said his father taught him and his brothers and sisters to take care of the land 
- Your farmland should be better when your done with it than when you started. 
- Husband taught this to our children. 
- What I could find there would be 1,500 solar panels per acre. 
- Over 8,000 acres of solar panels have been mentioned in Woodbury County. 

10



8 

- I’ve heard by where I live, they want to put 2,600 solar farm there. 
- You’re looking at around four square miles of solar panels and from what I can tell on average solar panels 

only last about 10 years. 
- They also have hail storms that can destroy solar panels. 
- Once they are done, they are not recyclable.  They contain toxic chemicals that can go into the ground.   
- They are going to fill the landfills.  Sometimes they just leave them above ground and set them in piles 

which is an eyesore.   
- It had been mentioned at the Board of Supervisors meeting about the Constitution and property owner 

rights.  It has been mentioned here tonight that you have a right to make money off your property.  I believe 
in the Constitution.  I believe in property rights but this county has an ag preservation designation and the 
purpose of that is to preserve ag land and the farmers have been free to use the land for farming and to 
make as much money as they can and many have done quite well on this system.   

- However, the Constitution and property rights does not give permission to change the rights of a whole 
county by putting a conditional use on it to allow a few individuals to make a lot of money on industrial 
solar energy projects on farmland. 

- The rest of the county will not really benefit from this change it leaves us open to having to go through a 
process if somebody wants to be an industrial solar system by us we’re going to have to go and say hey I 
don’t really like this. 

- We shouldn’t have to live on our properties being worried about being subjected to that.  I believe putting a 
C on the land would open us landowners to having eyesores by our property.  I’m sorry if you think looking 
at acres of solar panels is beautiful, but I live out in the county because I love to see the landscape there, I 
love to see the crops to see the sky to see it all.  Even if you put these things down low If I look out my 
window, I’m going to see acres of solar panel that’s not going to be ag land. 

- I’ve also read there is possible health effects.  The solar panels put off a hum.  If you live out in the country 
its quiet.  It can cause migraine headaches. 

- I believe these industrial solar products belong industrial land.  Not on ag land. 
- The change will affect the whole county and will benefit a few and it belongs on industrial zoned land. 

Bob Fritzmeyer (Sioux City) (1:04:53 to 1:07:00) - https://youtu.be/XZQa-5kNgcQ?feature=shared&t=3893

- Commend Zoning Commission for seeking a balanced view on this. 
- MidAmerican Energy has put in a solar installation on their property.  This installation has helped the soil 

actually.  An installation like this does help the soil.  It’s not an agricultural use for some years.  Grass is 
going to grow there.  The soil loosens.  The soil rejuvenates.  I commend MidAmerican Energy for what 
they’ve done and bring about some transition from the fossil fuels to the renewable energies. 

- Besides those positive effects, those solar installations have a 60 foot distance that has to exist between the 
outer fence and the first solar panels, and that area can be put into grasses and will foster pheasants and 
quail and help the hunting prospects in Woodbury County.  

- This would be a positive step to continue with your conditional use and with the needed aspects 
scrutinizing the needs that each applicant would have for the solar installation. 

Leo Jochum (Salix) (1:07:12 to 1:10:42) - https://youtu.be/XZQa-5kNgcQ?si=K7rB1XziF7cvPxEH&t=4032

- According to independent researchers, Iowa residents enjoy a lower residential rate than most people in the 
United States with an average rate here of 13.12 cents per kilowatt hour versus 15.72 cents per kilowatt 
hour nationally this for Iowans represents an annual monthly rate of $16.32 versus a national rate of 
$147.64 or a savings of amount $370 per year for every household. 

- Renewable energy in Iowa is the main factor for these lower rates utility solar has advanced its technology 
in recent years to become the least cost provider for electricity with that some people have concerns about 
the landscape around such a facility I can see their concern.  That’s one concern I’d like to address tonight.   

- When a residence is next to a solar facility, a vegetative screening is provided by using evergreen trees, 
shad trees, shrubs, and a diversity of plant species to preserve the aesthetics of the surroundings vegetative 
screening is allowed up to 20 feet in height which is about six feet higher than the solar panels each 

11



9 

neighbor is contacted by the solar company for their input regarding where to place the screening what type 
of plants to use and the length of such screening that goes in front or across their acreage. 

- Vegetative screening for neighbors should be included in the conditional use permit. 
- Another emotional issue is using farmland for solar.  The example used as 51% should be dedicated to ag 

use.  This could be in the form of grazing livestock, raising crops that are not tall. 
- A lot of research is ongoing with agrivoltaics, but more research must be done before this is an acceptable 

practice.   
- Fencing needs to be in place for unauthorized entrance or any time of vandalism.  However, fence lines or 

stranded acres there will be some stranded acres in the middle where there already existing easements, 
could be used for beekeeping for specialty crops because they would be outside of the restricted zone.   

- The idea of capping acres at 2% or 8,540 acres on agricultural preservation, that’s okay.  That is actually 
more restrictive for the county than it is for utility solar.  8,540 acres has the ability to produce 1,420 
megawatts of electricity when Neal North and South were in production together, they produced 1,340 
megawatts which is less than the amount that 8,540 acres would produce. 

- At the present time, the infrastructure is not here to accommodate 1,420 acres of solar.  Utility solar is safe, 
quiet, and does not pollute the soil and is a great revenue source for the county.  I support placing utility 
solar as a conditional use. 

Kim Alexander (Smithland) (1:11:03 to 1:13:17) - https://youtu.be/XZQa-5kNgcQ?si=6wwYGQVw1sc4Q0cp&t=4263

- From Smithland.  Farm in the area.  Appreciate the Commission and the Jochum’s speaking their peace. 
- Seems to me this is about the money.  Making money and getting money.   
- Ironic to take the most efficient and least expensive solar collector in creation which is green grass, corn, 

and soybeans and you’re going to cover it with concrete or asphalt or whatever and put up these solar 
panels that’s the height of irony.  The days of unlimited use of our land, we can use it however we want and 
to fooey with anybody that tells us different goes or gone when we live in a community, we have to 
consider what the community has to say about that use of the land and so those days are gone, and I 
appreciate the commission having this meeting tonight. 

- Again, it’s all about the money.  More tax revenue baloney.  The county gets enough tax revenue.  I’m not 
going to put in something to generate more tax revenue.  The question is how much money is enough and if 
you’re not making enough on your ground that you have then get rid of half of it and do a better job with 
what you’ve got instead of putting asphalt on it and putting in solar panels.  Again, there’s more to life than 
just making money.   

- As Mrs. Widman said treating a piece of land improving it so that it’s better than when you got it that you 
leave it better than when you got it.  It’s not about the money it’s about caring for the land, it’s about caring 
for the land it’s about planting renewable crops instead of renewal industrial solar. 

Will Dougherty (Urbandale) (1:13:39 to 1:16:55) - https://youtu.be/XZQa-5kNgcQ?si=Qgt8OF3ZIjj0gHBn&t=4421

- From MidAmerican Energy. 
- Referenced the Commission’s consideration of neighbor, height, CSR ratings. 
- Looking at how to carve and dice the situation for Woodbury County as a community in general. 
- The CSR maps that you have in front of you right is one of many kind of layers on top of layers when you 

look at it from a zoning perspective similar to a lot of renewable projects that are install.  The state we’ve 
done six solar projects today we have 38 wind farms across the state.  Yes, the county has a large dictation 
as to where the solar projects can go in their own respective county there’s a lot of other considerations that 
come into play when you’re going through the development process for a solar project.  Dan mentioned the 
FAA.  There’s consultation with them, the DOE, the DOJ as well for the sighting of these facilities whether 
or not you have anti-glare films put on the front of the solar projects or the panels themselves.  There’s 
consultation with the Iowa DNR.  There’s consultation with the fish and wildlife service as well.  Like you 
said Dan, Neal solar project that we have down by Port Neal right now there was a lot of communication 
between ourselves and the county to kind of sort some questions.  I know there’s like a pipeline crossing 
question that came into play.  We submitted for you known grading permits, secondary roads and 

12



10 

everything like that and so these are all questions that I think the county just needs to take into 
consideration when drafting the ordinance or any zoning regulations around potentially solar for ag use. 

- You know a lot of questions that have come up tonight have been you know regarding about the land usage 
and returning it back better than you found it a lot of counties throughout the state, they do have 
mechanisms in place such as decommissioning agreements with the county in which a developer has to 
enter into.  There a lot of other mechanisms that you can look like they help protect the agricultural use and 
the long-term viability of that land uses as well as so there’s a lot of different things you can kind of tweak 
and play with to see how it fits your community’s use and see how you want the solar project to transition 
you know beyond the 30, 40 year years of life back to ag or potentially into a secondary solar project or 
something else entirely so you would mention a lot of the resources that have been sent over from some of 
the other entities in the state that advocate for balance policy outcomes.   

- I’m familiar with a lot of those resources.  If you have any questions, please feel free to reach out and as  
always, I’ve done this at a Board of Supervisors meeting but if anybody and this means anybody wants to 
come to our Neal solar project, please let me know.  I’ll leave my information with the board and they can 
put it in the packet material but the Neal project is down by Port Neal and would love to show everybody 
around. 

Ann Johnston (Salix) (1:17:38 to 1:18:26) - https://youtu.be/XZQa-5kNgcQ?si=BzSVyF0F0dImCUje&t=4657

- I would consider these solar panels an eyesore.  And I like Elizabeth like to see the corn and beans.  We 
have two Fox dens that are across the road from us.  Every summer, the mother sits back and lets the two 
babies come over and eat mulberries from our trees.  Where are they going to live with these solar panels 
here over there?   

- I like the farm.  This belongs in an industrial setting.  Not out in the country where people live for peace 
and quiet.   

Wally Kuntz (Moville) (1:18:48 to 1:21:05) - https://youtu.be/XZQa-5kNgcQ?si=P0CRduozXpG_ajrQ&t=4728

- Not for or against the project.  Was here for another reason.  The question I have is about the taxes to the 
county when the solar goes up.  Obviously, MidAmerican is a commercial entity.  Do we get to reap the 
benefits of square foot commercial taxes on that then or how’s that work.  I guess that the assessor.  I don’t 
know how that works to be honest with you does anybody else? 

- Supervisor Jeremy Taylor (1:19:20 to 1:21:05) - https://youtu.be/XZQa-5kNgcQ?si=cZSv6H8-M1XSsEF5&t=4760

o One of the questions that we asked our assessor was if zoning matters materially to the county based 
on the zoning designation in regards to taxation.  The answer is no whether the solar project was in 
ag preservation or whether it was an industrial.  It’s taxed on a generation usage so it’s immaterial 
whether the zoning designation ultimately is. 

o So one of the things we asked July Conoly, our assessor to do is to run 2,500 acres in ag and just to 
do it on a general survey of ag land an re-yield about $94,000 on 100 megawatt project that’s 
approximately 2,500 acres, it would yield about $504,000 that is not a way of saying this is for or 
against so I don’t want that to be implied these are just dollars that we asked her to run on a 
comparison basis and if I could just add one more thing from a County Board of Supervisors 
perspective, my goal here tonight isn’t to push one way or another but just to have the ratio of I 
have two ears and one mouth and try to use them in that proportion and to sit and listen and then 
take back the information that I’m hearing tonight and take that back to our Board of Supervisors so 
just want to commend planning and zoning and the director in terms of holding this public hearing.   

Commissioner Bride (1:21:27) - https://youtu.be/XZQa-5kNgcQ?si=cZSv6H8-M1XSsEF5&t=4887

- Question for Will Dougherty regarding the footprint of the largest solar site currently in the State of Iowa.   

- Will Dougherty 

13



11 

o Are you referring to our Holiday Creek project? 

Bride: What’s the acres involved in that?   

- Dougherty: the largest one we have is the Holiday Creek project. That’s kind of northwest of Fort Dodge I 
believe encumbered by the solar project itself it’s roughly a little under right around 800 acres that’s for a 
100 megawatt project and that kind of goes with the rule of thumb approximately and a lot of topography 
can play into it along with you know setbacks set forth by the county zoning as well as for how you can 
kind of optimize use of land but the general rule of thumb about 8 acres per megawatt per solar project.  
Bride: Another quick question before you sit down.  To date, has there ever been a request to the Iowa 
Utilities Board to grant eminent domain for any commercial energy project?

- Dougherty: For a commercial energy project?  So, I’m not 100% familiar with.  Bride: What about solar 
then? 

- Dougherty: Solar I’m not familiar.  I mean we have had to go in for like sites certificates basically there’s 
certain thresholds that for generation basis you have to go into the IUB but it’s not for an eminent domain 
case, it’s basically just site certificate basically authorizing you as a public utility to utilize that area.  It’s 
somewhat similar to kid of the process the county holds their public hearings.  There are interveners 
involved and stuff like that for a lot of our smaller scale.  So, if it’s not going to the transmission grit, it’s 
going to the distribution system that did not go through the IUB process but to your original question of 
have any of them been put in place through eminent domain and have we taken landform someone in order 
to facilitate project answers no. 

Kevin Alexander (Smithland) (1:23:45 to 1:27:30) 
- Sir before you sit down can I ask a question?
- Since the big problem with photovoltaic and generation is storage of the power.  What you do, so say you 

got this megawatt photovoltaic solar utility.  Where’s that power going or and with the wind generators, I 
noticed a lot of times, when I head to Schleswig and Smithland a lot of times though things are shut down.  
I assume they have more power than they need so what about the whole storage thing on this generation, I 
guess.  

- Dougherty:  I don’t know if we’re addressing storage along with the solar but I mean it’s so basically it’s 
as you alluded to it’s not an on-demand energy source and so the wind turbine and solar panels similar you 
know they run when that resource is available so the way that it’s kind of operated and it kind of depends 
largely upon whether it’s a distribution scale solar system a transmission scale solar system but you know 
kind of under the same lines from the physics perspective that energy goes to where it’s first basically it 
gets put onto the grid distribution or transmission goes where it’s need first whether that be the next house 
down the line or 20 miles down the line doesn’t matter and then basically jumps off to that nearest load 
center that’s on that system there so from the energy storage perspective I guess I’m not sure what the 
question really was. Alexander: Well, the point of the question is the functionality and the utility of these 
solar farms that you want to put in if they’re going to sit idle half the time like those big electric fans over 
by Schleswig are whenever I drive over to Denison then what’s the point?  Same way with these 
photovoltaic panels, if they’re going to, do they switch them off when they have all the power they need or 
do they just keep shifting it around?

- Dougherty: So, I think it’s important to kind of take a step back and look at it from the perspective of an 
above all approach.  Obviously here in Woodbury County we have Port Neal down south of Sioux City.  
That’s an on demand coal fire facility and we have five of those throughout the State of Iowa and we have 
one natural gas facility in the Des Moines area.  And so we’ve transitioned to a point here where 
renewables have started to act more as like a base load generation traditionally that was more like your 
fossil assets or your nuclear assets so yes they are you know vulnerable to when the sun is shining or when 
the wind is blow but that doesn’t mean there’s not value in them it’s above all approach there’s a lot of 
discussion earlier about the rates that within the State of Iowa are lower than the national average that’s 
largely a portion at least for MidAmerican our rates are fifth lowest in the nation for investor own utilities 

14



12 

and we have the second and third lowest as well in South Dakota and Illinois but that’s largely contributed 
to the zero cost resource of actually running these facilities from a fuel standpoint as opposed to the fossil 
generation standpoints.  I’m not saying that fossil is bad but we still run those facilities they’re needed 
every single day for that times when the sun isn’t shining wind is blowing but they are additive in nature 
and they’re complimentary in nature and so even though they might be not working one day or curtailed 
one day or there might not be enough winter sun one day doesn’t mean they’re invaluable resources.  
They’re just different resource types guess this is kind of getting off track discussion but hopefully that 
helps a little bit guess.   

15



13 

PUBLIC HEARING #2 (WOODBURY COUNTY COURTHOUSE) – SEPTEMBER 25, 2023

On September 25, 2023, the Commission conducted a second public hearing at the Courthouse.  There were 25 
members of the public at the meeting including one on the phone.  Twelve addressed the Commission and provided 
the subsequent information.  Below includes links to the audio and summaries and/or direct quote adaptions of the 
information shared by the public.  The following is not intended to be a perfect transcript but is offered to provide 
context of the debate.  The audio can be accessed on YouTube using the following direct link: 
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=LJ-k9MCD8_8

The list of Zoning Commission meetings inclusive of the agendas, packets with backup materials, minutes, and 
videos (Audio) may be accessed at: https://www.woodburycountyiowa.gov/committees/zoning_commission/

Matt Countryman (23:22 to 23:51) - https://youtu.be/LJ-k9MCD8_8?si=AOMcmUF7nK4buE1W&t=1401

- Renewable Energy Equity Partners 
- Mitigation plans and agricultural restoration plans set a good pathway forward when applicants are seeking 

a conditional use permit with an overlay district, something that can be incorporated into a development 
application regarding utility scale solar energy parks. 

Deb Harpenau (Salix) (23:13 to 25:27) – https://youtu.be/LJ-k9MCD8_8?si=UY7uYtXUwe2Uytgv&t=1453

- Throughout our daily lives, we see change.  Usually, it’s gradual and it’s not even noticeable, so it’s just 
accepted or even expected. 

- For the last decade or more people started addressing climate change and as a result started researching 
alternative energy source one of which is solar and again this change in fact is a sudden change.  I 
understand for some this can be scary, but we find solutions we should listen to the facts such as native 
grasses will be planted under the panels this land used to be all native grasses before it was broken up for 
agriculture.   

- These native grasses will be home to many species of wildlife while the grasses rejuvenate the soil through 
its roots and water absorption and retention. There has been rumors that Neal 3 and 4 will scale back or 
possible shut down in the future.  If that would happen, I think utility solar would be a clean nontoxic and 
economical source of electrical generation. 

Wally Wagner (Salix) (23:43 to 28:54) - https://youtu.be/LJ-k9MCD8_8?si=UKjnw3mKn5lgCPdY&t=1543

- Back 87 years ago, my grandfather bought a farm on the river which is located just north of Neal South and 
then later on another parcel to the east now my folks bought a parcel that actually adjoins Neil South to the 
east and you know we were there before Neil South was so Deb just talked about progress or change.  I 
don’t think there’s anybody in this room that saw more change in their neck of the woods than we did.

- I was a teenager when that all started happening besides the fact that the Corp of Engineers completely 
rerouted the reiver we had landed to join the river and then after that our hunting and fishing ground was 
you know changed completely so anyway, we’re talking about change we’re really talking about progress.

- So, I have parcels east of Salix.  I have parcels west of Salix.  Grew up out there and I have a parcel south 
of the airport in the General Industrial zone and we have had at least 8 probably 10 different companies 
contact us for options on these parcels all over okay in all three of the areas so with the present interest in 
renewable energy it’s my conclusion that it’s coming to our area okay and the Salix area is primed for solar 
electrical generation due to the proximity to the Neal complex and the electrical grid that is there okay.  So, 
to me it’s like we’re either going to accommodate it or we could put our heads down and but at it but it’s 
probably not going to work okay as my mom would say we could be bullheaded about it okay, so the 
conclusion is like it was 50 years ago electrical generation is important okay.  We’re talking about millions 
of people being served with electricity now at present it’s with renewable energy so to me lower production 
land which I have some that okay would be an appropriate consideration for you all and also the lower 
residential density.  Okay so now going back to the CSR1, CSR2s, you guys heard about that last session 
the CSR2s are not accurate for what I refer to as gumbo.  Okay poorly drained high clay density soils okay 

16



14 

and so it’s like they went two to one, so I don’t know that is a really accurate consideration for you guys to 
think about in the future okay.  

Jerrod Ulery (Ulery Energy) (29:21 to 30:01) - https://youtu.be/LJ-k9MCD8_8?si=zKyflbma0P1pphSB&t=1761

- I am the owner of UR Energy.  I was present here I think about three months ago submitting a special use 
permit for a data center, so my company builds data centers all over Iowa.  We have about 250 megawatts 
in our pipeline currently and one of our five megawatt projects is in the vicinity of these solar projects and 
wind projects that are going on so we support it.  I’m here to support it.  I’m not a local resident.  I’m in 
LaGrande, Iowa but we have many sites in this area and we plan on developing those sites as well so I plan 
on seeing you guys many more times so thanks for having me.

Kevin Alons (Salix) (30:14 to 32:55) - https://youtu.be/LJ-k9MCD8_8?si=jIDZGUvtNarMvE7D&t=1814

- I’ve heard the talk about progress and a lot about renewable energies.  I’d just like to first just challenge the 
assertion that the use of solar on agricultural land in Iowa meets the definition of agricultural preservation 
right.  It’s not an agricultural use and I think that’s it’s kind of a stretch.  It is quite a stretch to call it an 
accommodation that this is something that’s compatible with agriculture.  It’s obviously going to supply 
agriculture and you can argue whether it can be put back at a later time but that’s really a secondary issue. 

- Obviously solar is being considered along with some of the other renewable energies because they are 
being heavily subsidized as I think everybody here recognizes.  We would not be having this discussion if 
there wasn’t a significant federal subsidy for this process.  I’m not sure that first off, I think everybody also 
recognizes that those subsidies are being paid for with debt.  Not with revenue and they certainly aren’t 
going to pay for themselves so the energy being produced is not a sustainable process even though that’s 
the way we tend to describe it.  I know that there is consideration and this may be outside of the purview 
specifically for this discussion about how much revenue might be increased for either the individuals who 
the landowner but more specifically for the county but I really wonder what the net effect will be for the 
county for how much revenue comes into the local area how much revenue is generated and how much is 
lost because of the changes how money is spent in the county because I’m sure most of these entities.  I 
would assume that the entities that are going to bring this into the county are not local so their 
considerations really for any of those things is about chasing short-term profit coming from federal subsidy 
so I probably will run out of time but I mean just as a fundamental, solar is a very inefficient way of 
producing power and it’s hard to imagine that it could ever produce anywhere close to the amount of 
money that is being promised again through subsidies so I feel like that is a short-term bet, something that 
is certainly not assured long term and I really question how long into a 40-year contract that apparently 
they’re discussion they could actually be relied upon.  So, I live down in Salix at least I live in the area and 
I’m not sure they would but we’re talking about large projects that could have a very large impact on 
property values so just some things that I would like to see considered.  

Rebecca Moerer (Sioux City) (33:17 to 35:06) - https://youtu.be/LJ-k9MCD8_8?si=ASj3wSjW2Qjm1drS&t=1997

- I live in Sioux City.  First of all, I feel that people should think about this a little bit more.  I believe solar 
farms are misnomer totally because energy is not an ag product.  The definition of farm is an area of land 
and buildings used for growing crops and raising animals at the last meeting the proponents of these solar 
zones talked about planting grasses and trees to increase the land value and protect wildlife but they were 
presented as ideas and not requirements.  So, I guess that would be one of my main concerns also are their 
fees if these solar panels break down who pays for those who checks on them to see the maintenance is 
maintained and what happened to those and whose cost is it after they don’t function anymore.  We still 
have unsightly satellite dishes around the county to.  They talked also about taxes generated would they be 
staying in Woodbury County from these solar areas?   I do feel that there’s plenty of unused commercial 
properties where these could be implemented to benefit a larger number of people or the units could be 
directly connected to use to produce energy that they claim there’s so much of directly to an item that needs 
that energy instead of taking up crop land or animal land and I do feel that these do disrupt wildlife areas so 
I am against this. 

17



15 

Jesus Cendejas (Salix) (35:17 to 38:32) - https://youtu.be/LJ-k9MCD8_8?si=35eSEuc4uS08hIlF&t=2117

- Thank you for this opportunity and we believe God has appointed all of you guys in this position and we 
pray that you make good decisions and everything that you’re involved in apart from our United States 
Constitution which I am grateful for the Bible is the first to call the right of owning and being able to use 
private property.  The latter informed the authors of our Constitution and is evidence in the language 
they’re in two of the Ten Commandments say thou shall not steal and thou shall not covet these implying 
and tell the right to work hard and the right to owner possess including the right of private property part of 
the issue with the situation is not simply the thought or idea that a person should be able to deal with their 
property as they please but rather is it is that in this liberty and reality one is still responsible for the 
stewardship of the land that God ultimately owns and the neighbor that lives beyond one’s boundary as an 
example Exodus 21, 20-29 says if an ox gores a man or woman to death then the ox shall surely be stoned 
and its flesh shall not be eaten but the owner of the ox shall be acquitted but if the ox tended to thrust with 
his horn in times past and has been made known to his owner and he has not kept it confined so that it has 
killed a man or a woman, the ox shall be stoned and its owner also shall be put to death as you may see 
God’s law informs us that the way we manage our private property matters in more than just our personal 
benefit it also matters as how it affects others quite weighty and this is just one example there are many 
angles we can take and should consider you guys ourselves here are a few subsidies, all this money is given 
for this where does it come from and who’s going to pay for it and maybe even who actually owns this land 
depletion we don’t have more farmland than what we possess now there’s containment effects jobs and 
economy outside entities are paid for this project and other non-Iowa residents hired will benefit most apart 
from maybe only a few local hired individuals in the long run this is historically the case neighbors, those 
who have invested in living in the area have the right to expect present zoning to be honored so that their 
own investments are not diminished due to change.  In closing Dr. Gordon Wilson, Senior Fellow of 
National History of the New St. Andrews College in response to this complex issue set states its true once 
operational wind energy cuts emissions by running on 100 renewable resource but it is that the whole 
story?  Wind turbines and solar panels along with the batteries required to store the energy have a high 
monetary environmental production cost.  These upfront costs may balance out over time with low 
operating costs but for now the power that the wind and solar farms provide is more expensive than the 
traditional power this costs demands government subsidies that are likely to greater than the reduced energy 
cost of the wind and solar farms.  Additionally, wind and solar farms require vast areas of land that can 
change the natural aesthetics and landscape and interfere with wildlife habitats, bats and bird are often 
killed by the rotating blades or the concentrated beams of light and the termite vibrations produce sound 
pollution with complex environmental topics such as alternative energy we must carefully consider the 
impact on our neighbors and God’s creation as we make his dominion decisions.

Elizabeth Widman (Sergeant Bluff) (38:58 to 42:23) - https://youtu.be/LJ-k9MCD8_8?feature=shared&t=2338

- I’m a landowner in Woodbury County and my sons are fifth generation Woodbury County farms and um 
but I would just like to address there seems to be a misconception about constitutional rights and property 
rights and that you cannot restrict a property owner from doing anything they want to on their property and 
if the situation was reversed and incorporated city land had a C put on it to allow ag activities in the city um 
so that someone could put a hog building on their property in tow if they had enough property to do it and 
someone else maybe want a couple cows and a flock of chickens in there um you know and say will the 
neighbors just have to put up with the flies and the noise and the smell uh no one would be in favor of that 
so I don’t think it’s right to come out to ag protected properties and say um you know we’re going to put a 
C on here and you just have to put up with when they put up these solar facilities is not ag land and it is not 
um it is not the life out in the country that people want out there um it can if you put these up it can lower 
property values you have noise from these solar panels there’s glare, there’s lots of beautiful viewage um 
there’s harm to wildlife and birds um there’s um 12,860,000 solar panels that will be not good in 10 years 
or less if you have hail storms.  We’re going to have to do something with those they’re going to be in our 
county and um we could possibly have a change in administration here with elections coming up and there 
might not these solar panels might not be so subsidized um I read somewhere environmentalists are 

18



16 

actually asking in some areas to quit putting up so many solar panels because it kills the birds um the 
extreme heat from the reflective material can instantly incinerate them it changes the migratory patterns 
especially down by Salix you know you have birds come through on my property I have a pond we have 
um the geese come through and um the biggest treasure in Woodbury County is our people that live out in 
the county.  My children have been involved with 4-H we go to the fair you know if you put these solar 
facilities in their people are not going to view this as the beautiful ag land that they’ve lived in these are 
industrial.  They’re not they’re not solar.  Is that my time and uh so thank you for listening your 
consideration and I just ask you to you know preserve this for the people that love the land and want to live 
out in the country.  

Leo Jochum (Salix) (42:34 to 45:15) - https://youtu.be/LJ-k9MCD8_8?feature=shared&t=2554

- Good afternoon, thanks for all the work you people have done, Leo Jochum, Salix, Iowa.  About 10 days 
ago, my wife and I took off and went to Indiana to see relatives at the quad cities, we go off the interstate, 
took the back roads through Illinois, those county roads are all blacktop but they’re very narrow as we were 
enjoying the landscape, we came upon a utility solar facility actually when we saw that we were only about 
a quarter of a mile away that’s when we noticed it, we went along it for about a mile and then we pull over 
and stopped as we got out of the car pheasants flew out of the pollinator area out of those grasses that were 
inside the perimeter fence, we took some time just looking around and listening there wasn’t any electrical 
hum like you hear in electrical lines.  There was no sound of motors but what we did hear was crickets.  We 
could hear the crickets chirping the grasses under the panels were very green.  They were probably mowed 
within the last couple of weeks.  The pollinators between the panels and the fences.  They were green and 
flowering as we drove away, we noticed some acreages a few across the road use the vegetative covers 
that’s always supplied free of charge by the solar companies.  There are a couple of acreages on the same 
side of the facility that had a windbreak that was probably in place before the solar facility was built.  We 
were impressed with how professional everything looked.  There wasn’t any machinery parked outside.  We 
did not see any trash.  We didn’t see any piles of used panels anywhere actually I wasn’t surprise to see how 
neat everything looked.  The other facilities that I have been at looked just as good.  If utility solar is 
allowed in Woodbury County I would employ the same practice today that I used in the mid-1970s.  In 
1974, we built a house, a new house on our farm.  In 1978, I expanded my hog operation by building a 
confinement facility.  The concerns of the neighbors were satisfied when I built it approximately 400 feet 
from my house.  If utility solar becomes a reality, I would allow panels 360 degrees around my house.  If 
the pipeline easement allows it. 

Ann Johnston (Salix) (46:33 to 47:17) - https://youtu.be/LJ-k9MCD8_8?feature=shared&t=2793

- I live in Salix out in the country.  I thought the only mortal sin anymore was not recycling.  Leaving a 
bigger footprint.  I understand these solar panels are not recyclable so what are we leaving for our kinds 
and our grandkids?  My second point is parts of these solar panels are made by the Uyghurs, slave labor in 
communist China.  The women and the children are physically and sexually abused.  I don’t want any part 
of that.

Will Dougherty (MidAmerican Energy) (47:34 to 50:56) - https://youtu.be/LJ-k9MCD8_8?feature=shared&t=2854

- If I may um sorry, I was going to wait to chime in, but this is Will Dougherty with MidAmerican Energy.  
Is it okay if I give a quick comment.  Zellmer-Zant: Yes.   

- Okay, yeah, so I guess there’s a lot of good comments.  I think overall from the meeting um a lot to kind of 
unpack but I’ll just kind of keep it short and simple um you know our position on it from the zoning 
perspective is um you know there’s a lot of good ways that um a lot of these concerns can potentially be 
mitigated and I think through a permit process and a public hearing process any constituents that you know 
live an adjacent proposed project would be able to have their case heard and the conditional use can 
directly reflect any of those concerns for mitigation side of things but kind of in line with what we’re 
discussing last week that the land use for ag lands and potential for solar to be placed on them I think 
having a thorough decommissioning plan in place um that’s something that’s required throughout a lot of 

19



17 

counties throughout the state something that gets reviewed and approved by both the counties and the 
proposed solar developers so that’s a mechanism that the county can try to utilize to mitigate any future 
impacts to the ag land and restore the property back to its original use after the decommissioning of the 
project.  Additionally, um you can look at things such as visual screening or shielding from projects a lot of 
times these projects if they are located in ag properties they’re surrounded by adjacent ag parcels as well 
um having buffers you know whether that be a setback from road right of ways or from fence lines allows 
for those visual screenings to take place once the vegetation is established so having a plan on the front end 
of a project that a developer or a project owner must enter into a county is a good way to try to mitigate that 
as well establishes vegetative growth plans seeding mixes stuff like that kind of lays out on the front and 
the expectations from the county side of things um for the maintenance of it and the growth of it long term 
for the project overall I think for the general comments we’ve received on solar it is an above all approach 
for MidAmerican’s point of view.  I think someone pointed out earlier you know.  Neal is located down in 
Salix area.  Someone else had pointed out that you know they didn’t believe that solar was a viable option 
um as we look toward transitioning uh from a more carbon intensive resource to more diverse resources it 
is an all of the above approach there is no one-size fits all. Ther is no silver bullet um it can’t all be wind; it 
can’t all be solar.  So having the resource available to help hedge and mitigate any potential fluctuations 
and market prices whether it be from natural gas or coal um or material costs from winter solar having all 
those resources available is in best interest of not only the utility customers but also the state in general 
having more balance portfolio and really starting to um kind of hedge your resources so that you don’t 
become too heavy or too reliant on one so that being said um I’m always open for questions or comments 
um we can always try to get a tour for anybody down at Neal solar as well. 

Daniel Segura (Sioux City) (1:38:44 to 1:41:43) - https://youtu.be/LJ-k9MCD8_8?feature=shared&t=5904

- Hy my name is Daniel Segura.  I live in Sioux City uh I have family and have friends that have uh have 
property in sort of the subject areas um in this county um I just wanted to uh make a comment about this 
discussion about uh overlay and uh pairing that with the conditional use permit or maybe a variance or 
something of that nature I don’t see how this necessarily addresses the concerns of those that are as we 
would say against the motion to institute uh promoting these solar panels um one thing I’m seeing is uh we 
already have um just by virtue of the statures and ordinances in this Country uh a method to do something 
like that and that’s the regular conditional use permit uh a way of applying and getting a variance that sort 
of thing what it seems like is uh this overlay might just be more of a sort of like a soft approval of these uh 
category of solar panels uh solar energy uh what have you and then it kind of sort of boosts it into being 
approved once it gets kicked down to the next so I don’t see it as an extra protection for you know to uh 
basically give those that are uh opposed to this motion uh sort of like oh this is going to help the process 
like an extra check it doesn’t seem to be that way one thing that I want to mention just about the conditional 
use permits those we can’t take those away those are always permitted you know that will someone can’t 
always apply for a conditional use permit or a variance and uh it seems uh that those would be a good way 
to if someone had a specific um and sort of a unique need for solar panels on their property or solar energy 
one clear example would be something like a medical clinic that’s kind of out in the country and they need 
backup power and um you know I don’t think anyone would uh be opposed to considering okay this is a 
special um this is a special example a special scenario where a conditional use permit or a variance it would 
seem reasonable that these people have a particular need for something that’s unusual but the concerns that 
most people are having those that are wanting to retain the farming jurisdiction and the zoning of farming is 
that uh the if we open the door to everyone getting something then people will continue to get it um it we 
wouldn’t say that we could allow variances and conditional use permits for every person for example like 
we’ve heard that wanted to farm in the city we would say well only if you had a specific need for that if 
there was something out of the ordinary um so that’s would I would l just add to the comments to some of 
this talk of overlay and conditional use permits. 

20



18 

PUBLIC HEARING #3 (WOODBURY COUNTY COURTHOUSE) – OCTOBER 23, 2023

On October 23, 2023, the Commission conducted a third public hearing at the Courthouse.  There were fourteen 
members at the meeting including one on the phone.  Four addressed the Commission and provided the subsequent 
information.  Below includes links to the audio and summaries and/or direct quote adaptions of the information 
shared by the public.  The following is not intended to be a perfect transcript but is offered to provide context of 
the debate.  The audio can be accessed on YouTube using the following direct link: 
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=qNpK3atf1k0&t=3s

The list of Zoning Commission meetings inclusive of the agendas, packets with backup materials, minutes, and 
videos (Audio) may be accessed at: https://www.woodburycountyiowa.gov/committees/zoning_commission/

Emily Segura (Sioux City) (14:45 to 18:24) - https://youtu.be/qNpK3atf1k0?si=CGm38fZqAo5uwVj2&t=885

I’m from Sioux City.  I’m a native of Woodbury County here and I love our county.  I think we have so much to 
offer um new people coming here and just the farmland um I grew up on the farm and I definitely love the land.  
It’s very important to me that we take care of it so that’s why I’m here today to just bring forth a few concerns that 
I might have about this that I think maybe aren’t being considered at this time.  So, like I said, I’m from this county 
I have been coming for the past serval weeks just listening to what’s been going on um, and I think something 
that’s maybe kind of failed um to be recognized is that these maybe are not as green friendly as we’d like to think.  
An article that I’m going to reference I’m only going to talk about one here um there’s many more that I could 
bring forward if needed but the one we’re going to talk about is from the Harvard Business Review.  It’s titled the 
“Dark Side of Solar Power” um in this article it is talking about how prior to putting up a solar farm you’d need a 
correct way to get rid of when these solar panels go bad so in the article it’s talking about the waste that is coming 
from these solar farms because they go in our minds we think okay they’re going to last us like 30 years or 
something well that’s not actually what happens generally if we have like a hail storm that comes through it’s 
going to take it out or um something of that nature or also another factor that it talks about is um that there is more 
efficient solar panels coming up so the ones that we have now in 10 years we’re going to have more efficient solar 
panels so when we’re going to we’re going to just change it so what are we going to do with the solar panels that 
are already in place they’re going to get they’re going to go to the dump because it is cheaper to send them just to 
the dump we don’t have another way to do it that’s what’s going to happen and when they go to the dump which 
our dumps like this is going to be full of solar panels when they go there they also would emit toxic waste which 
there are metals that are in these and also glass products so we don’t have a place to go with these solar panels 
once they go back so um in conclusion I would recommend that you check out the “Dark Side of Solar Power” 
from the Harvard Business Review.  It’s just a good insight into another viewpoint that possibly we’re not thinking 
about that these things are not really helping us out in the long term because we’re making our children take care 
of the mistakes that we did.  – Referenced Article: “The Dark Side of Solar Power” by Atalay Atasu, Serasu Duran, 
and Luk N. Van Wassenhove.  Harvard Business Review. - https://hbr.org/2021/06/the-dark-side-of-solar-power 

Ann Johnston (Salix) (18:50 to 20:28) - https://youtu.be/qNpK3atf1k0?si=CKeu0LvAPe5KTSfF&t=1130

I have some additional information about the Uyghurs, the slave labor group in communist China that makes parts 
of the solar panels not only do they make parts for the solar panels, they make the whole solar panels and yes 
there’s still a slave labor group the women and children are physically and sexually abused and that’s who makes 
97% of the solar panels that come to the United States.  My second point is I’ve heard a lot about Linn County and 
Scott County but I haven’t heard anything about any counties over here on the western side of the state so I made 
several phone calls and Sioux County has a big moratorium on any of this energy stuff that’s going on the other 
counties um are not going with solar or wind power um in fact um they know very little about it so if it is so 
desired here in Woodbury County um it’s not desired in surrounding counties. 

Elizabeth Widman (Sergeant Bluff) (21:00 to 24:22) - https://youtu.be/qNpK3atf1k0?si=OQ4pZ36Ye01GgmNK&t=1260

I live in rural Sergeant Bluff and I’m a landowner and my sons again are fifth generation Woodbury County 
farmers.  I’ve going to all the solar meetings two of the Board of Supervisors voted against putting solar on ag 

21



19 

protected land so this is not a mandate from the board to ensure solar encroaches on ag land.  Putting utility solar 
on ag protected land fundamentally changes the ag protected area and should only be put in industrial zones.  
MidAmerica’s largest Iowa project is 800 acres but they stated they did not have immediate plans to locate solar in 
Woodbury County.  The photo of Europe of farming between solar panels is experimental and not done in America.  
MidAmerica stated that cattle grazing underneath solar would not work because they would rub against the solar 
panels and knock them down.  Grass planted underneath would not help wildlife because it was stated that fences 
need to be around these solar areas to protect the public at the last meeting Dan Priestley said that when utility 
solar is allowed in a preservation land companies would have to be forthright in their application however at these 
public meetings it has not been mentioned that the pro solar speakers have already signed contracts with an outside 
company and we should be told who this company is if you add up the acres of land in the plat book owned by 
these individuals in my area it comes to roughly 2,600 acres or around four square miles to get an idea of that 
magnitude um think of this the area of the city of Sergeant Bluff is only 2.11 square miles all of the rest of the 
cities in Woodbury County are less than one square mile four square miles is about the size of 1,936 football fields.  
MidAmerica said that their solar contracts are for 30 years if these signed solar contracts are the same.  I’ll be 97 
years old before these is a possibility of decommissioning them back to ag if it ever is done.  Utility solar is not 
agriculture in 30 years my grandchild recently born will have completed all of their schooling, their college degree 
and worked several years in their first job all without seeing this land in agriculture another solar project also 
unmentioned at these meetings is contracted near Rock Brach for around 3,000 acres  My mom’s um cousin owns 
80 acres out there that he’s turned into a nature preserve and I just uh recently inherited some land right next to that 
the solar would be out by there so utility solar is not agriculture the reason it’s called agriculture preservation  is to 
preserve it.  These solar utility um facilities belong on industrial land. 

Elizabeth Cindy Haase (Salix) (24:46 to 24:22) - https://youtu.be/qNpK3atf1k0?si=fFZv8N6kDOvv8g__&t=1486

I do have some concerns with the solar farming and one of them is uh the radiation that could be caused by it um 
cause I read some things about um the electromagnetic hypersensitivity to it that could give you um headaches and 
dizziness and nausea um and there are some who believe that there is increased risk of cancer for those who live 
next to them um and some of this makes sense because they’re those who do live um near them have said that they 
have had headaches from them and so I think those are good reasons to um to think about. 

22



20 

WORK SESSION (WOODBURY COUNTY COURTHOUSE) – OCTOBER 16, 2023

On October 16, 2023, the Commission conducted a work session at the Courthouse to consider utility-scale solar 
energy systems.  There were fourteen members of the public at the meeting.  Below includes links to the audio and 
summaries, paraphrases and/or direct quote adaptions of the meeting content.  The following is not intended to be a 
transcript but to provide context of the debate.  The audio can be accessed on YouTube using the following direct 
link: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=lJAj6Xh3cSU
The list of Zoning Commission meetings inclusive of the agendas, packets with backup materials, minutes, and 
videos (Audio) may be accessed at: https://www.woodburycountyiowa.gov/committees/zoning_commission/

Work Session for Proposed Utility-Scale Solar Energy Systems Zoning Ordinance Amendment(s). 
Prior to this meeting, the Zoning Commission has held two public hearings to collect comments from the public 
(Moville – 9/11/23 & Courthouse – 9/25/23).  Subsequently, a follow up public hearing will be held on Monday, 
October 23 at the regular meeting of the Commission that begins at 5:00 PM.   

Priestley offered an overview of the evening’s proceedings including five considerations for a potential utility-scale 
solar energy systems ordinance that could be considered by the Zoning Commission in preparation for a 
recommendation to the Board of Supervisors. 

Consideration 1 
Consider updating the General Development Plan and/or Future Land Use Map to facilitate the potential expansion of the 
General Industrial (GI) and Limited Industrial (LI) Zoning Districts and consider adding additional requirements to the 
conditional use permitting process to make expectations clear for the applicants, area landowners, and the general public. 

Consideration 2 
Consider retaining the current permitting procedures in the Woodbury County Zoning Ordinance but add additional requirements 
to the conditional use permitting process to make expectations clear for the applicants, area landowners, and the general public. 
Consider retaining the General Industrial (GI) Zoning District as the only allowed location for the consideration of a conditional 
use. 

Consideration 3 
Consider establishing a utility-scale solar energy systems overlay zoning district that requires a rezone application to be reviewed 
by the Zoning Commission and considered for approval by the Board of Supervisors that must meet specific criteria for the 
appropriateness of whether a particular area in the Agricultural Preservation (AP) Zoning District is suitable for utility-scale solar 
energy systems. Consider adding additional requirements to the conditional use permitting process to make expectations clear for 
the applicants, area landowners, and the general public. 

Consideration 4 
Consider establishing an agrisolar utility-scale solar energy systems overlay zoning district for the specific purpose to coincide 
with an existing farming operation where each parcel of land shall include over 51% of its usage for farming purposes. 

Consideration 5 
Consider retaining the current policy for utility-scale solar energy systems (No changes).  

The Commission discussed the current process for the permitting of utility-scale solar on agricultural land 
including the issue of spot zoning and its relationship with the comprehensive plan's future land use map.  Priestley 
referenced the future land use map as a tool for justifying future industrial areas that could facilitate the permitting 
of utility-solar.  He indicated that industrial areas could be expanded on the map for future consideration of solar.  
However, it would take going through the comprehensive map approval process of amending the map to reflect 
additional industrial areas that could later justify additional areas.   

Priestley discussed the concept of overlay districts as used by both Scott County and Linn County.  Scott County 
relies on a CSR2 average of 60 or higher to authorize the rezone while Linn County uses a score card or rubric 
which identifies a number of issues not limited to CSR2, grading, vegetation, and good neighbor payments in order 
to obtain a permissible score.  Priestley indicated that the rezone to an overlay is similar to a conditional use, 

23



21 

however, it adds the Board of Supervisors to the process of determining whether or not an area of the county is 
appropriate for solar.  Therefore, the Zoning Commission and Board of Supervisors would be involved in the 
overlay district rezone process.  Additionally, the Zoning Commission and Board of Adjustment would be involved 
with the conditional use permit process.  The Board of Supervisors would be involved with authorizing each 
individual agreement such as decommissioning, road use, agricultural mitigation, etc. 

Zellmer Zant indicated that she likes the involvement of the Zoning Commission, Board of Adjustment, and Board 
of Supervisors as it gives the public more opportunities to participate in the process.  She also questioned whether 
the overlay district is permanent or temporary.  Priestley indicated that depends on how the overlay district is 
designed.  The goal of the district is to allow a new use but retain the base use.  The policy for a decommissioning 
plan will be a determining factor as to whether the specific use of the overlay can continue or conclude.   

Bride inquired as to whether there would be any issues if separate overlay districts associated with other projects 
were treated differently than others.  Priestley indicated that there must be clear consistent expectations in the 
requirements for establishing the district, however there can be some room for conditions if information is 
identified that should be addressed.  Priestley stated there must be a balance, but various options must be exhausted 
as applicants/developers must know what they are getting into from the start.  Priestley discussed other 
considerations such as separation distances, setbacks, setback waivers, and the floodplain. 

Priestley discussed a potential application process and expectations of staff, associated county departments, the 
commission, and boards.  He discussed the concept of the solar-ordinance conditional use as being portable for 
either the industrial or overlay district.  If the overlay district is not used, then an added feature conditional use 
permit process can be used for the general industrial areas.  If the overlay district is used, there would need to be a 
set of parameters for determining how the overlay gets approved. 

Bride shared a concern that if the Commission recommends no changes that the Supervisors might consider going 
with a stand-alone ordinance which does not involve zoning.  Priestley indicated that a stand-alone ordinance does 
not include the zoning districts. Priestley stated that the Zoning Commission has the right to offer any reasonable 
recommendation to the Board of Supervisors.  He indicated that everyone is mindful of the harvest season, and we 
will continue to offer multiple opportunities for input. 

O'Tool inquired about the downside of using the overlay district.  Priestley explained the debate of exclusively 
relying on CSR which could offer limitations for landowners.  Meister mentioned in a previous public hearing 
questions about the reliability of CSR.  He indicated that he likes Linn County's rubric as including CSR and other 
items.  He also inquired who would be monitoring or policing the rubric for items such as grass species.  Priestley 
responded that additional regulations create the need for more bureaucracy or more resources.  

Meister inquired about how the Board of Supervisors arrived at 2% use of agricultural land.  Is that enough or too 
much?  He would like to see more information on how this equals to an existing power plant.  Bride indicated that 
2% is around 8,400 acres and stated that the Supervisors may be looking for a cap.  Will Dougherty of 
MidAmerican discussed the acres on some existing projects in other counties.  Meister offered concerns about the 
2%.  O'Tool inquired with Will Doughtery about the comparison of solar and wind in terms of megawatt capacity.     

Bride inquired about the setbacks and if any of the allowed uses expand outside of the property lines.  Priestley 
indicated the existing zoning ordinance does not include separation distances beyond the lot lines.  Setbacks are 
determined by the zoning district dimensional standards in the zoning ordinance.  Bride offered concerns about the 
impact of setbacks on other property owners.  Priestley indicated that setback waivers could be used, and he 
cautioned about the law of unintended consequences. 

O'Tool referenced the 5% slope proposed requirement.  Bride inquired as to where the Supervisors arrived at that 
number.  Priestley said it has been offered as part of the consideration for the Commission to research as a 

24



22 

possibility.  Zellmer Zant referenced the importance of comparing practices with other counties and not necessarily 
reinventing the wheel.  Zellmer Zant also referenced the needs of the cities including community solar.  Bride used 
Moville as an example using an overlay to facilitate solar.  He also referenced the use of the percentage as an issue.  
Priestley indicated that the 51/49% solar ratio is meant to ensure agriculture remains a primary function on ag land.   
Meister inquired about the proposed one mile notification area.  Priestley responded that the purpose is to increase 
public awareness.   

Zellmer Zant inquired with Will Dougherty as to whether these contracts are 10 years and questioned the rapid 
change of technology.  Dougherty discussed maximizing efficiencies as a driving factor of change.  He referenced 
ISU's study pertaining to the coexistence of agriculture and solar with aspects such as grazing.  Bride inquired 
about damage to panels as a result of grazing.  Dougherty referenced sheep as an option over others.   

Bride inquired about how the land can be put back the way it was through decommissioning and referenced 
concrete left in the ground as result of wind turbines.  Doughtery indicated that solar concrete footings are not 
being used.  Zellmer Zant asked about the Port Neal solar field's footings.  O'Tool asked Dougherty about buried 
power lines and if they can be buried in the floodplain.  Priestley indicted that electrical assets must be elevated 
above the BFE.  Bride and Zant indicated there are locations where lines are likely buried in the floodplain.  

Zellmer Zant asked Dougherty about how much power gets lost from arrays through distribution.  Bride asked 
Dougherty about the driving factor for locating solar parks. 

Zellmer Zant inquired with the Commission about what they like/don't like in the packet considerations. 

Parker referenced the Supervisors' discussion point of Light Industrial.  Priestley indicated that the limited 
industrial use can be associated with Consideration #1 which would entail revising the development plan. 

O'Tool referenced having a list of bullet points to follow to determine where an area is appropriate or not.   

Zellmer-Zant stated that she prefers to not go with the map change as referenced in Consideration #1 because there 
are other systems in place.  She indicated that she likes the conditional use and overlay district format as it includes 
multiple entities.  Bride questioned the ability to accurately be able to paint/assign the industrial areas through 
mapping. 

O'Tool indicated that the overlay could be used in AP areas.  Bride discussed the flexibility of the overlay district 
and the permitting routes.  Priestley discussed the creation of the overlay district on a project by project basis.  He 
indicated that an acre cap could be instituted in the ordinance.  Zellmer Zent stated that one of the counties she 
researched had a cap of 400 acres.   

Zellmer Zant indicated that the Commission appears to be leaning toward Consideration #3.  Priestley indicated 
that Consideration #4 is not field tested and was only brought into the discussion to discuss the relationship or co-
existence of solar and agriculture.  Agrisolar could be a part of Consideration #3.  Priestley also discussed how 
battery systems should also be brought into the debate with the growing technology.  He made reference to its 
inclusion in Linn County's ordinance.  Will Dougherty discussed batteries in Iowa.   

Zellmer Zant inquired if Consideration 5 is off the table.  Bride indicated that not doing anything is not what the 
Supervisors are looking for.  Priestley indicated the Commission has the latitude to make a recommendation as you 
see fit as long as it has an explanation and rationale behind it.   

Zellmer Zant referenced the overlap between Considerations 2 and 3.  Priestley discussed the overlay district and 
the overlay rezoning process. 

25



23 

Parker inquired if the county currently has an overlay district.  Priestley stated that there is a conservation overlay 
district that could be petitioned for.    

Zellmer Zant questioned the reference to the 10,000 acre limitation, dimensional standards, etc. between 
Consideration #3 and #4.  She referenced the relationship between the 51% agricultural use and the CSR2 rating. 

O'Tool questioned whether the CSR2 should be prohibited or not.  Meister questioned the inconsistency and 
reliability of the CSR2. 

Doyle Turner offered comments about the accuracy of CSR2.  Leo Jochum referenced the difference in rainfall 
between CSR1 & CSR2. 

Zellmer Zant indicated that CSR's may be over 65 in industrial areas.  Priestley suggested the comprehensive plan 
and map allows for industrial areas to include areas of high CSR if the county plans for those areas to be industrial.  
Meiser is concerned with CSR being the sole factor.  Priestley indicated that CSR has traditionally been a part of 
this county's determination of land use. 

O'Tool indicated that it would be appropriate the spell out that a lower CSR would be preferable.  Bride indicated 
that CSR is presently considered in the rezone decision process.   

Zellmer Zant inquired about 5% slope for fixed arrays and whether there should be a range.  Bride offered 
concerns about the fixed percentage and discussed erosion.  Doyle Turner commented about farming practices 
across the state and discussed soil erosion including highly erodible land (HEL). 

Zellmer Zant inquired about the policy toward the special flood hazard area (floodplain).  O'Tool suggested that the 
standard floodplain regulations could be followed.     

Zellmer Zant referenced the conditional use language as being included along with the overlay.  Priestley replied 
that it would need to be discussed and debated.   

Zellmer Zant inquired about the definitions and the remaining concerns in the conditional use and overlay section.  
Priestley suggested that the concepts must continue to be vetted through the County Attorney's office.  It will be 
shared with both parties.  Priestley recommended that future work sessions be held following next week's public 
hearing.  

Leo Jochum offered concerns about the comparison between Scott County and Woodbury County and the use of 
CSR2.  Jochum made reference to other counties such as Louisa Couty, Mills County, Johnson County, and Linn 
County.  He referenced the scorecard as used by Linn County and the role of using seed mixes.   

Doyle Turner suggested that elected people should have a say on the locations of the solar parks.  Turner offered 
concerns that parameters set could limit the amount of land available for these projects.  He recommends giving 
the Supervisors more than one recommendation which could include the industrial areas.  As part of the 
conditional use, he offered questions about the hurdle of being necessary and desirable. 

26



24 

STAFF ANALYSIS 

Woodbury County currently allows for the consideration of utility-scale solar energy systems in the General 
Industrial (GI) Zoning District with the use of the conditional use permit application process through the Zoning 
Commission for review and the Board of Adjustment for approval.  The current debate is about whether to expand 
the opportunity for utility-scale solar on land in the Agricultural Preservation (AP) Zoning District.   

Under the current regulations, if a property owner desires to install a utility-scale solar system on his or her 
property, they would check with the county and the respective zoning district would be identified.  If the property 
were within the AP Zoning District, the proposal would not be allowed as it is designated as a “prohibited use” in 
the “Land Use Summary Table” (Section 3.03.4, p. 32) of the Woodbury County Zoning Ordinance.  However, the 
landowner does have the right under the ordinance to request for their district to rezoned to a designation that could 
facilitate utility-scale solar such as the GI Zoning Distrist.  Typically, there are instances that can hinder the rezone 
process including incompatibility with the comprehensive plan, it’s future land use map and the concept of spot 
zoning which could fall under compatibility with adjacent land uses, etc. 

The Zoning Ordinance Map Amendment (Rezone) process within the zoning ordinance includes the following 
evaluation criteria as part of the review and decision-making by the Zoning Commission and Board of Supervisors.  
As per Section 2.02.4 D (p. 12), the Commission shall base their recommendation and the Board of Supervisors 
shall base their decision of the following criteria: 

 Conformance with the goals and objectives set forth in the approval General Development Plan for 
Woodbury County including the Future Land Use Map; 

 Compatibility and conformance with the policies and plans of other agencies with respect to the subject 
property; 

 Consideration of the Corn Suitability Rating (CSR) of the property; 

 Compatibility with adjacent land uses; 

 Compatibility with other physical and economic factors affecting or affected by the proposed rezoning; and 

 Any other relevant factors. 

These criteria place emphasis on the comprehensive plan and its future land use map as a mechanism for 
determining whether or not a particular area of land is acceptable for a different set of land uses or zoning district.  
With this criteria, it could be challenging for a landowner in the middle of AP Zoned ground to switch the land to 
industrial through the rezone process if the requested area for a rezone is designated as agricultural on the future 
land use map.  It could be difficult to meet the corn suitability rating and the compatibility with adjacent land uses.  
Hence, spot zoning could come into play which is defined in the zoning ordinance as: 

An arbitrary zoning or rezoning of a small parcel of land, usually surrounded by other uses or zoning categories 
that are of a markedly or substantially different intensity, that is not consistent with the comprehensive land use 
plan, and that primarily promotes the private interest of the owner rather than the general welfare. This term is 
not used within these regulations, but is included here because it is commonly used to describe proposed 
rezonings, which may or not actually be spot zoning (Woodbury County Zoning Ordinance, p. 92). 

27



25 

It is essential to point out that Woodbury County’s comprehensive plan entitled, Planning for 2025, A General 
Development Plan for Woodbury County, includes policies not limited to the following that speak directly to the 
present debate: 

 Economy and Economic Development Policy 2.5: Fully explore alternative renewable energy sources, 
particularly wind generation facilities both as a contribution to the total energy needs of the country and as 
a new source of income for property owners. 

 Agricultural Policy 3.4: Protect prime farmland as determined by high corn suitability ratings (i.e., over 65 
CSR) from conversion to other land uses. Discourage non-agricultural uses in prime farmland areas and 
other agricultural districts by providing residential lot size requirements and proper separation distances 
between residential and agricultural uses. 

 Conservation and Environmental Policy #7.2: Establish grading standards that create stable development 
sites, minimize erosion and sedimentation and water runoff. These standards may encourage conservation 
of less developable sites, particularly in the steeper slopes of the Loess Hills. 

 Conservation and Environmental Policy 7.3: Establish standards and practices to encourage preservation 
of environmentally sensitive areas such as wetlands, wooded areas, waterways (streams, ponds, lakes, 
rivers, etc.), and other amenities.” 

The Future Land Use Map of Woodbury County, as established in 2005, includes an abundant number of areas 
prioritized for agriculture.  According to GIS data on file with Woodbury County and compiled by the Woodbury 
County Secondary Roads Department, the Zoning Districts are divided into the following acreage allotments: 

Zoning District Acres 
Agricultural Preservation (AP) 476,513
Agricultural Estates (AE) 7,556 
General Industrial (GI) 11,221 
Limited Industrial (LI) 101 
General Commercial (GC) 2,032
Suburban Residential (SR) 623 
*Data compiled by Woodbury County Secondary Roads on 9/11/23.

28



26 

As referenced in the October 23, 2023, backup materials for the Zoning Commission, if the comprehensive plan 
and/or its associated future land use map does not support a rezoning change, it is typically not recommended to 
proceed with the change in the zoning district.  If there is desire to consider such a rezone, as required by 
ordinance, the development plan and map should be considered as part of the review process.  With this being said, 
the regulations on the books signal that back in 2005, the residents of Woodbury County made it a priority to have 
a process in place that placed full scrutiny as to whether agricultural should or should not be used for other land 
uses and converted to different districts.    

Under the current comp plan there is support for both renewable energy and agricultural land uses.  The future land 
use map and the districts established in the zoning ordinance have placed requirements for where both can co-exist.  
In fact, Section 1.02.2 J of the zoning ordinance does reference “promoting conservation of energy resources and 
reasonable access to solar energy.”  Consequently, Woodbury County decided in 2008 to allow for electrical energy 
generation (not including wind) to be placed only as a conditional use permit opportunity in the General Industrial 
(GI) Zoning District.  Additionally, this use was designated as prohibited in every other zoning district.  This 
designation can be construed as the county’s consensus at the time to place utility-scale solar assets in industrial 
areas over agricultural.   

It is apparent that Woodbury County, based on the current comp plan, future land use map, and the parameters of 
existing ordinances are equipped to facilitate both agriculture and solar.  As noted, there are opportunities for solar 
to be considered in GI.  There are also opportunities for agriculture to be continued long-term in AP.  However, due 
to the large majority of the unincorporated area being under the AP designation, it is inevitable that there would be 
a desire to uses some AG land areas for utility-scale solar purposes. This is where the debate begins as to which 
areas within agricultural zoned land are appropriate or not for utility-scale solar energy systems. 

As noted previously, the Board of Supervisors revised their direction to the Zoning Commission on September 26, 
2023 to include the following concepts in mind as part of a future recommendation: 

 A conditional use permit for AP "C" with Planning and Zoning and the Board of Adjustment to be able to 
site-specifically take into consideration the concerns of neighbors, land/soil, and other factors when 
approving permit.  

 A slope of no more than 5% ONLY for fixed arrays (most technology is now movable arrays) in order to 
preserve the land and to account for soil erosion, compaction, and future land stewardship.  

 No more than 1% of industrial land conversion every 4 years for reclassification, roughly 5,700 acres.  

 Current notification for utility-scale solar shall be 1 mile for public comment instead of 500 feet.  

 A decommissioning plan from solar companies reviewed by P&Z/BOA subject to approval by the 
Woodbury County Board of Supervisors.

Each of the criteria presented by the Board of Supervisors are feasible with the three possible concepts 
subsequently presented in this report.  It is important to note that the proposals presented are rough drafts and are 
subject to changes due to the inevitability of learning more information.  The two draft proposals do provide for the 
concerns of the neighbors, land/soil, and other factors as part of the permit approval.  Under the concepts presented 
then landowners within one (1) mile would be notified about the proceedings which could include public hearings 
about the Zoning Commission, Board of Adjustment and Board of Supervisors level depending if it is for the 
overlay district or the conditional use.  The consideration of slope is included by the institution of a requirement for 
a geotechnical report submitted by a professionally licensed engineer qualified in the field of geotechnical 
engineering to assess the potential risk of slope instability or landslide for the proposed development in its existing 

29



27 

and post developed state.  Additionally, the Commission may consider to recommend a specific cap on acres 
allowed to be converted to the overlay district with a time frame.   

Based on the information received from the public so far, it is apparent that there is not a grand consensus about 
placing utility-solar on AG land.  Both staff and the Commission have been conscious about the harvest season and 
have taken the time to analyze the issue and continue to collect information about the public’s views.  Through the 
course of three public hearings and one work sessions, there are legitimate concerns on both sides of the issue that 
must be kept in mind.  From this perspective, and going back to the foundation of zoning, staff views the comp 
plan as the go-to or the starting point for policy.  Therefore, staff has offers three possibilities that keep the comp 
plan in mind.  

The first concept is to consider a new utility-scale solar energy conditional use process for the General Industrial 
(GI) Zoning District only.  The second is to establish an overlay district to facilitate utility-scale solar within the 
Agricultural Preservation (AP) Zoning District.  The third is to adopt the first concept and then to transfer the solar 
debate on agricultural land to the “Comprehensive Plan” adoption process that will likely occur in 2024.  A 
working draft of the comp plan is available for public inspection at the following link: https://simpco.org/wp-
content/uploads/2023/05/Draft_Woodbury-County-Comprehensive-Plan_5.2.23.pdf

SUMMARY OF PROPOSALS

1. CONCEPT 1 - Draft Utility-Solar CUP: A proposal to amend the zoning ordinance to offer specific 
requirements for obtaining a conditional use permit from the Zoning Commission and Board of Adjustment 
to facilitate the permitting of such systems in just the “General Industrial (GI) Zoning District.”  This 
proposal also requires that specific agreements be approved by the Board of Supervisors such as the Road 
Use and Repair Agreement, Drainage System Protection Agreement, Operation and Maintenance Plan, 
Decommissioning, Abandonment, and Site Restoration, Soil Erosion and Sediment Control, and 
Emergency Response.  Additionally, this proposal could potentially place the building permit authorization 
authority with the Board of Supervisors which is ultimately the final decision in the permitting 
process.  This proposal alone could be used for the permitting of utility-solar in just the General Industrial 
(GI) Zoning District or if there is abundant support to place these systems in the Agricultural Preservation 
(AP) Zoning District, the language could be modified to be compatible with the "overlay" concept that was 
referenced at previous meetings and mentioned below as the second concept.  This proposal is included in 
the rough draft section entitled “Section 5.08 – Utility-Scale Solar Energy Systems” which is available for 
review in the subsequent pages.   

2. CONCEPT 2 - Draft Utility-Solar Overlay District: The second concept would be to amend the zoning 
ordinance to offer parameters for the authorization of an “overlay” district entitled the “Utility-Scale Solar 
Energy Systems Overlay District.”  This district could follow a form of Zoning Ordinance Map 
Amendment (Rezone) process which includes a recommendation by the Zoning Commission and approval 
by the Board of Supervisors.  If the district is approved over ag land, then potential applicants would also 
need to follow the parameters of the first concept above.  Potentially, you could have the Zoning 
Commission, Board of Adjustment, and the Board of Supervisors involved in this process that would place 
the applicants in a position to provide the county with application materials that could be vetted by the 
Zoning Commission, Board of Adjustment and the Board of Supervisors.  The debate on this overlay 
district will likely include whether to use Corn Suitability Rating 2, slope or other parameters as for criteria 
for approval of the overlay.  There could also be consideration for the placement of a cap on the total 
number of acres that could be authorized by the Board of Supervisors for the overlay district (e.g. – 
9,500).  The overlay district would be created on a project-by-project basis and would retain the existing 
uses and rights of the primary zoning district, Agricultural Preservation (AP).  This proposal is included in 
the rough draft section entitled “Section 5.09 – Utility-Scale Solar Energy Systems Overlay District” which 

30



28 

is available for review in the subsequent pages.   

3. CONCEPT 3 - Development Plan Process:  The third concept would be to consider only the first concept 
limited to only the General Industrial (GI) Zoning District and to not consider the adoption of the overlay 
district or another rezone procedure until the Woodbury County Comprehensive Plan for 2040 is complete, 
has been adopted as the official plan for Woodbury County.  It would be prudent to consider utility-scale 
solar as part of the “Comprehensive Plan” (comp plan) debate to further gauge if there is new desire from 
the public to pursue utility-scale solar on agricultural land.  The current development plan offers support for 
renewable energy, however, the policies including the zoning ordinance that came out of that process 
established industrial areas as the appropriate locations for electrical energy generation while protecting 
agricultural land.  Woodbury County is currently at a convenient juncture to transfer this solar debate into 
the comp plan proceedings.  The comp plan adoption process is a time to determine what the development 
priorities are for Woodbury County over the next 20 years.   

It is a time to ask what type of county do we want to be?  What are the goals for Agriculture?  Land Use?  
Economic Development?  Commercial?  Industrial?  Residential?  Parks?  Recreation?  Conservation? 
Environment?  Public Safety?  Transportation?  Facilities?  Operations?  If renewable energy is a top 
priority, the opportunity is ahead for the public to offer input on what “areas of land” are suitable for 
industrial or commercial expansion through the comp plan’s future land use map.  This debate will take 
place before the Zoning Commission and the before the Board of Supervisors, likely in the spring of 2024.  
Further rational for use of the comprehensive plan process is available for review in the subsequent section 
entitled “Comprehensive Plan Adoption Process and Current Outlook.”   

31



29 

32



30 

33



31 

34



32 

35



33 

36



34 

37



35 

38



36 

39



37 

40



38 

41



39 

42



40 

43



41 

44



42 

45



43 

46



44 

47



45 

48



46 

49



47 

50



48 

51



49 

52



50 

53



51 

54



52 

55



53 

56



54 

57



55 

58



56 

59



57 

60



58 

61



59 

62



60 

63



61 

64



62 

65



63 

66



64 

67



65 

68



66 

69



67 

70



68

71



69 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN ADOPTION PROCESS AND CURRENT OUTLOOK

As noted in the summary above, the current comprehensive plan (comp plan) on the books offers support for 
renewable energy, however, the policies including the zoning ordinance that came out of that process established 
industrial areas as the appropriate locations for electrical energy generation while protecting agricultural land with 
the Corn Suitability Rating (CSR).  Woodbury County is currently at a convenient juncture to transfer this utility-
scale solar debate into the final stages of the comp plan adoption process that will be going before the Zoning 
Commission and the Board of Supervisors in 2024. 

It is essential to note that the institution of a comp plan is a countywide discussion to determine what the 
development priorities are for Woodbury County over the next 20 years.  It is a time to ask what type of county do 
we want to be?  What are the goals for agriculture?  Land Use?  Economic Development?  Commercial?  
Industrial?  Residential?  Parks?  Recreation?  Conservation?  Environment?  Public Safety?  Transportation?  
Facilities?  Operations?  This debate about utility-scale solar is consequential and fits in with the public’s long-
range decisions about the type of county that we want to be.  The discussion gives those who are in support or 
those who are opposed to the expansion of solar, in agricultural areas, a voice in the setting of countywide policy.  
Depending on how solar policy is ultimately crafted, this debate could potentially include access to over 475,000 
acres of agricultural land.   

If through the planning process, renewable energy is shown as a top priority by the public, the opportunity is ahead 
for the public to offer input about what “areas of land” are suitable for industrial expansion through the comp 
plan’s future land use map.  Below is a copy of the current future land use map.  The areas shaded in light green are 
planned for agriculture.  Through the consideration process, the public could offer input or make specific requests 
on which areas may or may not be suitable for utility-solar.  Additionally, through the debate, the public could 
request the expansion of residential, commercial, and industrial areas to facilitate future needs.    

Source: Current Land Use.  Draft Woodbury County Comprehensive Plan 2040.  
https://simpco.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/05/Draft_Woodbury-County-Comprehensive-Plan_5.2.23.pdf

At this time, it is absolutely essential to note that the draft comp plan has been in development over the past three 
(3) years and through the public engagement process in that timeframe, there has not been large-scale public 
support for renewable energy development.  As of this date, the future land use map that has been presented to the 
public has not substantially changed from the current map.  If specific requests have been made for a particular 

72



70 

area to be expanded, those requests would have been considered and would likely have been included in the future 
map.  The draft future land use map is included below: 

Source: Future Land Use.  Draft Woodbury County Comprehensive Plan 2040.  
https://simpco.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/05/Draft_Woodbury-County-Comprehensive-Plan_5.2.23.pdf

Below is an excerpt from page 70 of the draft Woodbury County Comprehensive Plan 2040: 

Access Link: https://simpco.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/05/Draft_Woodbury-County-Comprehensive-Plan_5.2.23.pdf

73



71 

The above language is not in stone and the public retains the ability to offer comments during the debate process.  
If during the discussions, there is support for utility-solar solar energy systems for the future in Woodbury County, 
it would contribute to the justification for future policy changes.  

If the public desires to create additional industrial areas on the comprehensive plan’s future land use map, an 
overlay district would not be necessary as the existing rezone process could likely facilitate the application process 
to rezone from AP to GI.   

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION 

The purpose of this report is to deliver information about the current status of the utility-scale solar energy debate 
in Woodbury County.  The contents herein include input from the public and three potential concepts that could be 
considered to address utility-scale solar policy.  Staff and the Zoning Commission have been mindful of the harvest 
season and look forward to continue collecting input from the public as an inevitable recommendation is prepared 
for the Board of Supervisors.   

The three concepts that have been presented in this report include: 

 Consider a new utility-scale solar energy conditional use process for the General Industrial (GI) Zoning 
District only. 

 Establish an overlay district to facilitate utility-scale solar within the Agricultural Preservation (AP) Zoning 
District. 

 Adopt the first concept and then to transfer the utility-solar debate on agricultural land to the 
“Comprehensive Plan” adoption process that will likely occur in 2024.

Staff is mindful of the intricacies of this discussion and recommends a future work session for the Commission to 
process a pathway forward.  Staff also recommends one or more public hearings in the post-harvest period to give 
landowners further opportunities to be heard at the Zoning Commission level before this debate process is 
transferred to the Board of Supervisors for consideration.   

74



72 

REFERENCES 

Draft Minutes - Woodbury County Zoning Commission. (2023, October 23). 

Draft Woodbury County Comprehensive Plan 2040. (n.d.). SIMPCO.  
https://simpco.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/05/Draft_Woodbury-County-Comprehensive-Plan_5.2.23.pdf 

Minutes - Woodbury County Zoning Commission - September 25, 2023. (2023, September 25). Retrieved from 
Woodbury County Zoning Commission : 
https://www.woodburycountyiowa.gov/files/committees/meetings/2023-09-
25_minutes_zoning_commission_9753.pdf 

Minutes - Woodbury County Zoning Commission Special Meeting - September 11, 2023. (2023, September 11). 
Retrieved from Woodbury County Zoning Commission: 
https://www.woodburycountyiowa.gov/files/committees/meetings/2023-09-
11_minutes_zoning_commission_2192.pdf 

Minutes - Woodbury County Zoning Commission Special Work Session - October 16, 2023. (2023, October 16). 
Retrieved from Woodbury County Zoning Commission: 
https://www.woodburycountyiowa.gov/files/committees/meetings/2023-10-
16_minutes_zoning_commission_3421.pdf 

Planning for 2025: A General Development Plan for Woodbury County. (2005, November 22). Woodbury County, 
Iowa. 

Woodbury County GIS Zoning District Data. (2023, September 11). Woodbury County, IA: Woodbury County 
Secondard Roads. 

Woodbury County Zoning Ordinance. (2023). Woodbury County, Iowa. 

Zoning Commission Meeting 10/23/23. (2023, October 23). Retrieved from Woodbury County Zoning Commission 
(YouTube Channel): https://youtu.be/qNpK3atf1k0?si=bseMGumAjVdIYtRy 

Zoning Commission Meeting 9/25/23. (2023, September 25). Retrieved from Woodbury County Zoning 
Commission (YouTube Channel): https://youtu.be/LJ-k9MCD8_8?si=OBOnzu7NgfK7x6_r 

Zoning Commission Special Meeting in Moville 9/11/23. (2023, September 11). Retrieved from Woodbury County 
Zoning Commission (YouTube Channel): https://youtu.be/XZQa-5kNgcQ?si=iz12wzR7RaAuxhOd&t=2 

Zoning Commission Work Session Utility-Scale Solar Energy Systems 10/16/23. (2023, October 16). Retrieved 
from Woodbury County Zoning Commission (YouTube Channel): 
https://youtu.be/lJAj6Xh3cSU?si=uCihyWqAdPRFkvA- 

75



73 

APPENDIX 
DIRECTION FROM THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS – AUGUST 8, 2023 

76



74 

77



75 

DIRECTION FROM THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS – SEPTEMBER 26, 2023 

78



76 

79



77 

CONCEPT 1 – SUMMARY (Utility-Scale Solar CUP for GI) 

 Summary: Retain the current permitting procedures in the Woodbury County Zoning Ordinance but add 
additional requirements to the conditional use permitting process to make expectations clear for the 
applicants, area landowners, and the general public. 

o Zoning District: General Industrial (GI) 
o Permitting Mechanism: Conditional Use Permit 
o Review Board: Zoning Commission 
o Approval Board: Board of Adjustment 
o Notification Area: One (1) mile from Project Area 
o Development Plan Justification:

 Compatible with Economy and Economic Development Policy 2.5: 
 “Fully explore alternative renewable energy sources, particularly wind generation 

facilities both as a contribution to the total energy needs of the country and as a new 
source of income for property owners.” 

 Compatible with Agricultural Policy 3.4: 
 “Protect prime farmland as determined by high corn suitability ratings (i.e., over 65 

CSR) from conversion to other land uses. Discourage non-agricultural uses in prime 
farmland areas and other agricultural districts by providing residential lot size 
requirements and proper separation distances between residential and agricultural 
uses.” 

 Compatible with Conservation and Environmental Policy 7.3: 
 “Establish standards and practices to encourage preservation of environmentally 

sensitive areas such as wetlands, wooded areas, waterways (streams, ponds, lakes, 
rivers, etc.), and other amenities.” 

 Compatible with Conservation and Environmental Policy #7.2: 
 “Establish grading standards that create stable development sites, minimize erosion 

and sedimentation and water runoff. These standards may encourage conservation of 
less developable sites, particularly in the steeper slopes of the Loess Hills.” 

Brief Background: 
 The Woodbury County Zoning Ordinance facilitates the permitting for utility-scale solar energy systems as 

a conditional use in the GI Zoning District.  Presently, the Zoning Commission reviews the application and 
then makes a recommendation to the Board of Adjustment.  Under this policy, utility-scale energy systems 
are construed as an industrial activity and have been placed into the industrial area of the county to ensure 
that productive farm ground can remain in production.  The Zoning Ordinance facilities the opportunity to 
rezone to the GI Zoning District in order for a conditional use permit to be considered.  However, the 
rezone process requires consideration of the following criteria: 

o Conformance with the goals and objectives set forth in the approved General Development Plan for 
Woodbury County including the Future Land Use Map;

o Compatibility and conformance with the policies and plans of other agencies with respect to the 
subject property;

o Consideration of the Corn Suitability Rating (CSR) of the property;
o Compatibility with adjacent land uses;
o Compatibility with other physical and economic factors affecting or affected by the proposed 

rezoning; and
o Any other relevant factors 

 Spot Zoning is defined in the Zoning Ordinance as “An arbitrary zoning or rezoning of a small parcel of 
land, usually surrounded by other uses or zoning categories that are of a markedly or substantially different 
intensity, that is not consistent with the comprehensive land use plan, and that primarily promotes the 
private interest of the owner rather than the general welfare. This term is not used within these regulations, 
but is included here because it is commonly used to describe proposed rezonings, which may or not 
actually be spot zoning. 

 If the development plan and/or its associated future land use map does not support a rezoning change, it is 
not recommended to proceed with the change in zoning district.  If there is a desire to consider such a 
rezone, the development plan should be revisited, debated, and be considered for amendment(s) to the text 
of the plan or future land use map. 

80



78 

CONCEPT 2 – SUMMARY (Utility-Scale Solar Overlay District) 

 Summary: Establish a utility-scale solar energy systems overlay zoning district that requires a rezone 
application to be reviewed by the Zoning Commission and considered for approval by the Board of 
Supervisors that must meet specific criteria for the appropriateness of the agricultural area to facilitate 
utility-scale solar systems.

o Proposed Zoning Districts: Establishment of a “Utility-Scale Solar Overlay Zoning District” to be 
used only over the “Agricultural Preservation (AP) Zoning District. 

o Permitting Mechanism: Rezone and Conditional Use Permit 
 Rezone to “Utility-Scale Solar Overlay Zoning District” 

 Zoning Commission makes a recommendation to the Board of Supervisors as to 
whether the rezone to the overlay district is appropriate or not. 

o Establish a criteria to qualify an area as acceptable or not for the overlay 
district: CSR2?; Slope; Acre Cap; Density/Setbacks, No floodplain, 
agricultural use, etc. 

 Board of Supervisors approves the rezone process including approval of specific 
agreements with the county such as decommissioning, road use, etc. 

 Conditional Use Permit
 The Woodbury County Zoning Commission reviews a conditional use permit 

application and makes a recommendation to the Board of Adjustment who approves 
or denies the permit. 

 Building Permit
 This proposal could potentially place the building permit authorization authority with 

the Board of Supervisors which is ultimately the final decision in the permitting 
process.  

o Notification Area: One (1) mile.   
o Development Plan Justification: 

 Compatible with Economy and Economic Development Policy 2.5: 
 “Fully explore alternative renewable energy sources, particularly wind generation 

facilities both as a contribution to the total energy needs of the country and as a new 
source of income for property owners.” 

 Background: 
o Both Linn County and Scott County use an overlay district to facilitate the permitting of utility-solar in 

agricultural areas.  Linn’s overlay district is known as the “Renewal Energy Overlay District” while Scott’s is a 
“Utility Solar-Floating District.”  They use the rezone process to switch the footprint of a solar project area to the 
overlay district.  The effect is creating an area for solar but retaining primary uses of the base zoning district.  

o Specifically, Linn County’s ordinance states that “the renewable energy overlay district shall be geographically 
located in those areas currently zoned AG (Agricultural) or CNR (Critical Natural Resources).”  The intention of 
Scott County’s floating district is to find a balance that keeps in mind the characteristics of the abutting properties 
and area, and other matters such as habitat, natural resources, agricultural preservation, safety, health, and general 
welfare.  Scott County’s ordinance makes it clear it is not their intention to allow for utility solar on prime 
agricultural land.   

o This concept of an overlay district could be an option for a balanced policy in Woodbury County.  For example, 
the county could establish a “Utility-Scale Solar Overlay Zoning District,” and enumerate standards that must be 
met in order to rezone the property to the overlay district while retaining all the existing uses of the base zone.   

o If the rezone were to be successful, then the Zoning Commission  and Board of Adjustment could review the 
application through the CUP process (with additional criteria to be added) or the Board of Supervisors could 
approve the solar project through the overlay district creation process.  

o On page 28 (33 of the PDF) of the Zoning Ordinance, Woodbury County does have an example of the “CD -- 
Conservation Development Overlay Zoning District”.  A “CD” can be instituted as an overlay over other districts 
such as AP, AE, NR, and SR.  Also, see page 17 (22 of the PDF) which uses the rezone process.   

o Based on what Linn County and Scott County have done, this could be a feasible option to have the debate at the 
Board of Supervisors level as to whether a particular area of ag land would be suitable or not for utility solar.   

o The overlay district is designed to not be a spot zone but a way to look at the unique nature of an area for a special 
use without changing the base zone or the controlling zoning district’s land use requirements.  Thus, if a solar farm 
is removed, it would revert back to the base use of the controlling zoning district or be considered for future 
conditional use permitting if a new solar system were to be proposed. 

81



79 

CONCEPT 3 – SUMMARY (Comprehensive Plan) 

Woodbury County is currently in the process of organizing a new comprehensive plan (“plan”).  Since early 2021, 
the plan has been in development but has been placed on hold.  At this time, the County is at a convenient juncture 
evaluate whether renewable energy sources continue to be a development priority for the county over the next 
decade and beyond.  The current debate considering the appropriateness of utility-solar systems being placed in 
areas of the county other than industrial naturally fits into the comprehensive plan adoption process.   

The current plan that has been in place since 2005, acknowledges renewable energy sources in its Economy and 
Economic Development Policy 2.5 which states “fully explore alternative renewable energy sources, particularly 
wind generation facilities both as a contribution to the total energy needs of the county and as a new source of 
income for property owners” (p. 19).  However, the plan also includes the initiative to protect prime farmland.  In 
particular, Agricultural Policy 3.5 states “protect prime farmland as determined by high corn suitability ratings 
(i.e., over 65 CSR) from conversion to other land uses.  Discourage non-agricultural uses in prime farmland acres 
and other agricultural districts by providing residential lot size requirements and proper separation distances 
between residential and agricultural uses” (p. 20). 

The priorities of a community are embodied in a comprehensive plan to serve as a guide or a rationale for basing 
land use decisions.  Iowa Code 335.1-3 states the following as it pertains to comprehensive plans: 

1. The regulations shall be made in accordance with a comprehensive plan and designed to preserve the availability of 
agricultural land; to consider the protection of soil from wind and water erosion; to encourage efficient urban development 
patterns; to lessen congestion in the street or highway; to secure safety from fire, flood, panic, and other dangers; to protect 
health and the general welfare; to provide adequate light and air; to prevent the overcrowding of land; to avoid undue 
concentration of population; to promote the conservation of energy resources; to promote reasonable access to solar energy; 
and to facilitate the adequate provision of transportation, water, sewerage, schools, parks, and other public requirements. 
However, provisions of this section relating to the objectives of energy conservation and access to solar energy shall not be 
construed as voiding any zoning regulation existing on July 1, 1981, or to require zoning in a county that did not have 
zoning prior to July 1, 1981. 

2. The regulations shall be made with reasonable consideration, among other things, as to the character of the area of the 
district and the peculiar suitability of such area for particular uses, and with a view to conserving the value of buildings and 
encouraging the most appropriate use of land throughout such county. 

3.  The regulations and comprehensive plan shall be made with consideration of the smart planning principles under section 
18B.1 and may include the information specified in section 18B.2, subsection 2. 

Following the adoption of the General Development Plan: Planning for 2025 on November 22, 2005, the county 
established a revised Zoning Ordinance and Subdivision Ordinance that were adopted on July 22, 2008.  
Subsequent to adoption, the Zoning Ordinance has been amended numerous times as it takes an amendment to the 
Zoning Ordinance to change any zoning district from one designation to another.  The most recent amendment 
occurred with the approval of Ordinance No. 75 which was a Zoning Ordinance Map Amendment (rezone) from 
the Agricultural Preservation (AP) Zoning District to the Agricultural Estates (AE) Zoning District.   

The process of amending the ordinance, as was the case with Ordinance No. 75, requires a look at the priorities 
within the comprehensive plan.  Is it appropriate or not to introduce a particular use onto property designated as 
agriculture?  The current plan tells the community that Woodbury County has a priority to explore renewable 
energy sources.  It also has an initiative to protect prime farmland by use of the Corn Suitability Rating.  In 2005, 
when then this plan was developed, it also included a “Future Land Use Map” that illustrates the areas within the 
county that the public expects particular uses to be allowed or not allowed.  Portions of the county were designated 
as agricultural, rural residential, transitional agriculture, commercial, industrial, and open space/recreation. 

In 2008, a land use summary table was adopted within the Zoning Ordinance that directly enumerates the priorities 
of land use in the county.  The public, appointed officials, and elected officials at that time, decided that electrical 
energy generation (not including wind) is a prohibited use in all zoning districts except for the General Industrial 
(GI) Zoning District.  To be clear, this decision reflects the comprehensive plan.  It shows the public is open to 
renewable energy, however, it demonstrates that the public chose the industrial areas as the most suitable locations 
to be considered through the conditional use process.   

With a future comprehensive plan in the works and ready for debate before the Zoning Commission and Board of 
Supervisors, staff offers this concept as a pathway for considering the renewable energy priorities of the county.  
Within the comprehensive plan debate, the public can request expansion of the industrial areas for the placement of 
renewable energy assets.  Therefore, it is feasible to explore expanding industrial areas on the future land use map 
which in turn could facilitate the rationale for an ordinance amendment to rezone additional areas for industrial 
uses such as utility-scale energy.   

82



80 

83



81 

84



82 

85



83 

86



84 

87



85 

88



86

89



87 

90



88 

91



89 

92



90 

93



91 

94



92 

95



93 

96



94 

97



95 

98



96

99



97 

100


	1) ZC_AGENDA_11-27-23
	2) ZC Minutes 10-23-2023
	3) Solar Meeting Summary_revised



